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FORTRESS PAPER LTD. 
MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

 
This Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) of the financial condition and results of operations of Fortress 
Paper Ltd. (“we”, “our”, “us”, “Fortress” or the “Company”) is dated and has been prepared based on information available 
as at March 9, 2015. The MD&A should be read in conjunction with the audited condensed consolidated financial statements 
and the notes thereto for the year ended December 31, 2014 (available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com).  This MD&A 
provides a review of the significant developments that have impacted the Company’s performance during the quarter ended 
December 31, 2014 relative to the previous quarter and prior year comparative quarter and the year ended December 31, 
2014 compared to the year ended December 31, 2013. The financial information contained herein has been prepared in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). 
  
This MD&A contains certain forward-looking information that reflects the current views and/or expectations of the 
Company with respect to its expectations, beliefs, assumptions, estimates and forecasts about its business and the 
industries and markets in which it operates. The reader is cautioned that statements comprising forward-looking 
information are not guarantees of future performance and involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties, assumptions 
and other factors which are difficult to predict and that may cause actual results or events to differ materially from those 
anticipated in such forward-looking information. Accordingly, readers should not place undue reliance on forward-
looking information. Examples of such forward-looking information that may be contained in this document include 
statements regarding: growth and future prospects of our business; market conditions for dissolving pulp, viscose staple 
fibre and our other products; expectations surrounding and resulting from China's antidumping duties, Canada's World 
Trade Organization complaint against China's antidumping duties and the Company's response to the antidumping duties; 
benefits that may accrue to the Company as a result of certain acquisitions, dispositions, capital expenditure programs, 
equipment upgrades and maintenance shut-downs; expected operational performance figures, including costs, utilization 
rates and efficiencies; expected returns on certain business segments; availability of funds for debt allocation; expectations 
relating to the timing of completion of repairs and ramp-up of our cogeneration facility; our perceptions of the industry 
and markets in which we operate and anticipated trends in such markets and in the countries in which we do business; the 
securement of new purchase orders for our products; and the anticipated benefits, cost, timing and completion dates for 
projects. 
 
Assumptions underlying the Company's expectations regarding forward-looking information contained in this MD&A 
include, among others: that the Company will be able to effectively market its products; the ability of the Company to 
realize significant cost-savings from production improvements, cost reduction initiatives and the cogeneration facility at 
the Fortress Specialty Cellulose mill; that current depressed dissolving pulp prices are indicative of unusual market 
conditions and are not sustainable in the medium to long term; that demand for viscose staple fibre will continue to grow 
which will result in an increased demand for dissolving pulp; that the Company's strategy of diversifying its product mix 
at the Fortress Specialty Cellulose mill will assist in mitigating the application of the antidumping duties; that the 
Landqart mill will continue operating on a consistent and regular basis in order to produce and deliver on its banknote 
orders; that the Landqart mill will be successful in securing new orders; the general stability of the economic, political and 
regulatory environments within the countries where the Company conducts operations; that the Company will be able to 
enter into enforceable supply agreements for dissolving pulp on favourable terms and diversify its customer base; the 
ability of the Company to obtain financing (if necessary) on acceptable terms; that interest and foreign exchange rates will 
not vary materially from current levels; and that our equipment will operate at expected levels.  
 
Persons reading this MD&A are cautioned that statements comprising forward-looking information are only predictions, 
and that the Company's actual future results or performance are subject to certain risks and uncertainties including, 
without limitation: those relating to potential disruptions to production and delivery, including as a result of equipment 
failures, labour issues, the complex integration of processes and equipment and other factors; fluctuations in the market 
price for products sold; trade restrictions or import duties imposed by foreign governments;  that the Company will not be 
able to meet its equipment repair targets; that the Company’s continuing efforts to reverse the dissolving pulp 
antidumping duty will not be successful; labour relations; failure to meet regulatory requirements; changes in the market; 
potential downturns in economic conditions; fluctuations in the price and supply of required materials; foreign exchange 
fluctuations; availability of financing (as necessary); dependence on major customers; and other risk factors detailed in 
this MD&A under “Risks and Uncertainties” and our filings with the Canadian securities regulatory authorities  These 
risks, as well as others, could cause actual results and events to vary significantly.  The Company does not undertake any 
obligation to update any forward-looking information, except as required by applicable securities law. 
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Throughout this discussion, reference is also made to “EBITDA”, defined as net income before interest, income taxes, 
depreciation, amortization, non-operating income and expenses and stock-based compensation, which the Company 
considers to be an indicative measure of operating performance and a metric to evaluate profitability.  Reference is also made 
to “adjusted net loss”, calculated as net loss less specific items affecting comparability with prior periods and “adjusted net 
loss per share”, calculated as adjusted net loss divided by the weighted average number of shares outstanding in the period. 
EBITDA, adjusted net loss and adjusted net loss per share are not generally accepted earnings measures and should not be 
considered as an alternative to net loss or cash flows as determined in accordance with IFRS. As there is no standardized 
method of calculating these measures, the Company’s EBITDA, adjusted net loss and adjusted net loss per share may not be 
directly comparable with similarly titled measures used by other companies. Reconciliations of EBITDA and adjusted net 
loss to net loss reported in accordance with IFRS and, on a segmented basis, operating loss are included in this MD&A. 
 
All references in this MD&A to “dollars” or “$” are to Canadian dollars, “€” are to the euro currency unit, “CHF” are to 
Swiss francs and “US$” are to United States dollars. 
 
Market and industry data contained in this MD&A is based upon information, surveys or studies conducted by independent 
third parties and independent industry or general publications and the Company's knowledge of, and experience in, the 
markets in which it operates. The Company has no reason to believe that such information is false or misleading in any 
material respect, however market and industry data is subject to variation and cannot be verified with complete certainty due 
to limits on the availability and reliability of raw data, the voluntary nature of the data gathering process and other limitations 
and uncertainties inherent in any statistical survey. This information has not been independently verified by the Company, 
any of its respective directors, officers or representatives or any other person involved in the preparation of the MD&A and 
no representation is given as to the accuracy of any of the data referred to in this MD&A obtained from third party sources. 
 
Where we disclose production costs in this MD&A, such costs are calculated based on a variety of factors and inputs which 
may result in such costs not being comparable to similar types of costs disclosed by other issuers. 
 
Description of Business 
 
The Company was incorporated on May 30, 2006 under the laws of the Province of British Columbia.  During the year 
ended December 31, 2014, the Company operated internationally in two distinct business segments: the Dissolving Pulp 
Segment and the Security Paper Products Segment. The Company previously operated its specialty papers business 
through the Dresden mill located in Germany, where it was a leading international producer of specialty non-woven 
wallpaper base products.  On April 30, 2013, the Company completed the sale of the Dresden mill and no longer operates 
in the specialty papers industry.  Accordingly, references in this MD&A to “discontinued operations” refer to the 
Specialty Papers Segment. 
 
The Company operates its dissolving pulp business through the Fortress Specialty Cellulose (“FSC”) mill located in 
Thurso, Québec, Canada.  The mill expanded into the renewable energy generation sector in October 2013 with the 
completion of the cogeneration facility.  The Company operates its security paper products business through the Landqart 
mill located in Switzerland, where it produces banknote, passport, visa and other brand protection and security papers.  On 
September 16, 2014, the Company completed the sale of its wholly owned subsidiary, Fortress Optical Features Ltd. 
("Fortress Optical"), of the security paper products business, where it manufactured optically variable thin film material 
("OTM") at its high security production and research facility located in Canada.  Fortress Optical was no longer 
considered to be a strategic asset or material to the Security Paper Products Segment and therefore is not included in 
references in this MD&A to “discontinued operations”. With the sale of Fortress Optical, the Company no longer 
manufactures OTM.  The segmentation of the Company's manufacturing operations is based on a number of factors, 
including production, production processes, and economic characteristics.  Consistent with the Company’s overall 
strategy, we continue to explore various shareholder enhancing opportunities, including investments in industries external 
to the Company’s current business segments as well as divestiture transactions.  
 
Overall Performance 
 
EBITDA loss was $1.4 million for the three months ended December 31, 2014.  The Dissolving Pulp Segment generated 
EBITDA loss of $3.7 million and the Security Paper Products Segment generated EBITDA of $3.2 million. Corporate 
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costs contributed $0.9 million to EBITDA loss. For the three months ended September 30, 2014, EBITDA loss was $1.5 
million and for the three months ended December 31, 2013, EBITDA loss was $9.4 million.  
 
EBITDA loss for the Dissolving Pulp Segment for the quarter ended December 31, 2014 was $2.5 million greater, 
primarily due to the eight day annual maintenance shutdown and operational challenges in the lime kiln and re-caust 
areas, when compared to the third quarter of 2014 EBITDA loss of $1.2 million, and $7.1 million less compared to the 
fourth quarter of 2013 EBITDA loss of $10.8 million.  The Company sold 40,966 air dried metric tonnes (“ADMT”) of 
dissolving pulp and 6,009 ADMT of northern bleached hardwood kraft pulp (“NBHK”) in the fourth quarter of 2014 
compared to 37,592 ADMT of dissolving pulp and 17,607 ADMT of NBHK in the third quarter of 2014.  Although the 
dissolving pulp market conditions continue to be challenging, production efficiencies and cash costs continue to see 
improvements relative to the prior year comparative periods.  The Dissolving Pulp Segment continues to be affected by 
the antidumping duty imposed by China’s Ministry of Commerce (“MOFCOM”) in April 2014.  The operational 
challenges experienced in the fourth quarter of 2014 will also impact results in the first quarter of 2015. 
 
The Landqart mill continues to implement new initiatives to improve efficiencies and profitability.  EBITDA of $3.2 
million for the Security Paper Products Segment for the quarter ended December 31, 2014 was $2.1 million higher when 
compared to the third quarter of 2014, and $0.5 million higher when compared to results in the fourth quarter of 2013.  
Less than favourable conditions, including the strength of the Swiss franc against the euro and strong competition for 
orders putting pressure on pricing, continue to impact the results of the Security Paper Products Segment.  The Landqart 
mill sold 2,270 tonnes of security paper in the fourth quarter of 2014, compared to 2,436 tonnes of security paper in the 
third quarter of 2014.  
 
Management’s Outlook 
 
Dissolving Pulp Segment 
 
The mill experienced its planned annual maintenance shutdown which took place for an eight day period in October 2014. 
The FSC mill restarted following the planned shutdown and, as part of its scheduled ramp-up, initially produced NBHK 
for approximately ten days before converting back to the production of dissolving pulp exclusively. Operational 
challenges at the FSC mill in the fourth quarter of 2014 were mainly caused by the lime kiln and re-caust areas. 
Management has purchased parts for the replacement of a section of the lime kiln which is scheduled for repair during the 
annual maintenance shutdown in October 2015.  Until such time, management is taking measures to improve uptime and 
availability of the re-caust area.   
 
Management continues to focus on cost reductions, power generation and product development to improve margins at the 
FSC mill; however, results continue to be impacted by the current dissolving pulp market, operational challenges and the 
MOFCOM decision. The initiative to further reduce operational costs is focused primarily in the following areas: reducing 
oil consumption, increasing power generation, labour cost reduction, chemical cost optimization and productivity 
stabilization. 
 
In May 2014, the Company announced that the FSC mill was awarded a power supply agreement by Hydro Québec for an 
additional 5.2MW of power (for a total of 24MW) to be produced at the cogeneration facility, which is expected to result 
in significant incremental cost savings per ADMT.  A “step change” in the mills cost structure due to this increased power 
generation was expected in the fourth quarter of 2014; however, while performing a routine gearbox inspection during the 
annual maintenance shutdown in October, a crack on a gear in the turbine used in the cogeneration facility was 
discovered. A temporary repair of the crack was completed and the turbine was restarted and has since been operating at a 
reduced rate.  Management expects that the gear will be replaced in mid-March 2015 at which time the turbine will return 
to its normal operation.  The FSC mill informed the part's manufacturer of the damage to the gear and a claim was made 
under its warranty.  As a consequence of the crack, the FSC mill is expected to ramp up to 22-23MWof power by the end 
of the second quarter of 2015. The cogeneration facility is currently operating but is running at approximately 80% of its 
original target (approximately 15 MW). 
 
In the fourth quarter of 2014, the FSC mill's production costs, including amortization of some of the shutdown costs and 
the positive impact of the cogeneration facility, averaged $808 per ADMT of dissolving pulp produced which is higher 
than the third quarter of 2014, in part due to the operational challenges and downtime of the turbine.   
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MOFCOM announced its decision on the final antidumping duty for Canadian, American and Brazilian companies on 
April 4, 2014.  The final duty applicable to certain product specifications of dissolving pulp previously produced at the 
FSC mill is at 13%.  With the final duty and its specifications now established, the Company has made improvements in 
re-establishing a more normalized sales cycle with new and existing customers and remains focused on continued 
progress to reduce costs and finished goods inventory levels at the mill.  The Company’s new sales and distribution 
strategy launched earlier in 2014 is to target 100% dissolving pulp production in 2015, subject to market conditions, as 
well as mitigating the application of the MOFCOM antidumping duty by diversifying product mix, including production 
for end uses other than viscose, improving quality and strengthening customer relationships.  In addition, management 
continues to investigate customer mix and geographical diversification of its sales.   
 
On October 15, 2014, the Government of Canada requested World Trade Organization (“WTO”) consultations with China 
concerning its imposition of antidumping duties on Canadian exports of dissolving pulp, which Canada believes violate 
WTO rules. The Government of Canada stated it was seeking consultation as a first step under WTO rules to reach a 
settlement. China had 30 days to engage in talks with Canada; however, dialogue was unsuccessful, and on February 12, 
2015, Canada announced it is requesting the establishment of a WTO panel on China’s imposition of discriminatory and 
unfounded anti-dumping measures on Canada’s dissolving pulp industry. See "Significant Developments – Canadian 
Government Request for WTO Panel on Chinese Anti-Dumping Measures".  
 
The viscose staple fibre ("VSF") and rayon filament markets, which are key drivers in dissolving pulp demand, 
experienced capacity expansion as a response to high capacity utilisation in 2014. Compared to other textile fibres, the 
price of cellulose fibre demonstrated the most resistance to changing market dynamics. For example, globally, filament 
grade fibre experienced an increase in price and VSF price decreased in 2014 but at a significantly lower rate compared to 
other textile fibres such as cotton. Cotton prices were generally lower than VSF prices except in China, where there has 
been government intervention to support the domestic cotton industry.  If cotton prices in China remain higher than VSF 
prices, the Chinese market is expected to drive global growth of viscose pulp production as demand increases.  Although 
dissolving pulp prices decreased in 2014, strong and stable demand for cellulose base fibre has helped mitigate price 
erosion for dissolving pulp.  Other factors that are contributing to stabilizing price erosion while new VSF capacity is 
being absorbed include: 
  

• Global demand growth for viscose pulp coupled with decelerating capacity expansion; 
 

• MOFCOM duty and current price levels (including low dissolving pulp prices and an increase in bleached 
hardwood kraft pulp prices) have resulted in some pulp producers moving away from VSF grades to produce 
fluff pulp and paper pulp;  
 

• Chinese dissolving pulp producers are running at less than 50% of global capacity due to cost competitiveness; 
 

• Chinese cotton linter pulp production in 2014 was at its lowest levels in the last seven years due to cost increases 
and environmental challenges; and 

 
• Previously announced conversion projects being delayed indefinitely, while a Canadian dissolving pulp producer 

announced an extended shutdown in 2014 due to market conditions. 
 

Assuming the continuing impact of such market factors, management believes that dissolving pulp prices could improve 
by early 2016.  As management expects the dissolving pulp market to remain depressed in the near term, the focus 
continues to be on ongoing cost reduction initiatives to position the mill further down the cost curve.   
  
Security Paper Products Segment 
  
The Landqart mill continues to build on a strong order book for 2015 comprised of a mix of new and repeat 
orders.  Multiple new orders were received in the second half of 2014, totaling approximately 4,500 tonnes of production 
in 2015 and 1,000 tonnes of production for 2016.  The mill’s targeted overall key performance indicators were achieved in 
2014 and management anticipates the mill to continue with further efficiency improvements in 2015.  Results at the 
Landqart mill for the year ended December 31, 2014 were in part a result of the Company's Lean Six Sigma program 
implemented in late 2013, which focuses on improving both mill efficiency and productivity.  Durasafe®, the innovative 
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composite paper-polymer-paper banknote substrate developed by the Landqart mill, continues to generate 
interest.  Production of Durasafe® for the substrate of the ninth series of the Swiss franc for the Swiss National Bank 
(“SNB”) began in 2014 and is expected to continue in 2015 and beyond.  
 
Improvements in order book, quality, waste rates and product mix suggest an improved operational outlook for 2015. 
However, recent unexpected monetary policy changes in Switzerland resulted in a material appreciation of the Swiss franc 
against the euro in January of 2015.  The Landqart mill is exposed to foreign currency exchange fluctuations, as a 
significant amount of its sales are denominated in euros and some major costs are denominated in Swiss francs. While the 
appreciation of the Swiss franc is expected to have a negative impact on the profit margins at the Landqart mill, 
management still anticipates EBITDA growth in 2015 when compared to the previous year. In response to these policy 
changes, the Landqart mill has implemented a foreign exchange counter measure program (“FECM”), which has already 
identified areas to materially mitigate the negative financial impact in both the short and medium term. 
 
Significant Developments  
 
Canadian Government Request for WTO Panel on Chinese Anti-Dumping Measures 
 
On February 12, 2015, Canada announced it is requesting the establishment of a WTO panel on China’s imposition of 
discriminatory and unfounded anti-dumping measures on Canada’s dissolving pulp industry. The Company announced 
that it fully supports the decision to advance the trade dispute with China to the WTO and defend the interest of Canadians 
in the dissolving pulp industry. 
 
Deferral on Investissement Québec Loan 
 
On December 3, 2014, the Company announced that the FSC mill entered into an amendment agreement with Investissement 
Québec (“IQ”) in respect of its project financing loan.  Under the amended agreement, no principal repayments will be made 
or interest accrued or paid on the balance of the loan until December 31, 2016. If the FSC mill reaches certain free cash flow 
targets, payments of up to $14.3 million may be made to IQ beginning in 2021. The maturity date of the loan was extended 
from April 30, 2020 to December 31, 2026 with equal quarterly payments beginning in 2017.  In conjunction with the 
amendment, the Company cancelled the previously issued 715,000 share purchase warrants and issued 1,000,000 
replacement share purchase warrants to IQ. The Company is required to make minimum aggregate capital expenditures of 
$25.0 million during the fiscal years ending on December 31, 2014, 2015 and 2016.  As at December 31, 2014, the Company 
has made $11.9 million in capital expenditures towards the $25.0 million minimum spend requirement.  The amendment was 
treated as a debt extinguishment, and, as a result, the Company recorded a debt extinguishment gain of $2.6 million.   
 
Sale of Fortress Optical 
 
On September 16, 2014, the Company announced that it had successfully completed the sale of Fortress Optical to 
Nanotech Security Corp. (“Nanotech”). The sale proceeds comprised $7.0 million cash, a $3.0 million secured note and 5 
million common shares of Nanotech of which 3 million are being held in escrow to be released to the Company upon the 
achievement of four differing business milestones by Fortress Optical and/or Nanotech over a five year period. The 
transaction excluded cash and certain accounts receivable of Fortress Optical.   
 
Based on the book value of the net assets disposed of, the related sales proceeds and management’s estimate of the fair 
value of the common shares of Nanotech on the date of the sale, as well as the fair value of the contingent consideration, 
the gain on the disposal of Fortress Optical was $9.1million. Fortress Optical is not considered material to the Security 
Paper Products Segment and therefore is not included in references in this MD&A to “discontinued operations”. 
   
FGC Mill Developments 
 
The Company's wholly-owned subsidiary, Fortress Global Cellulose Ltd. (“FGC”), has reentered into an electricity supply 
agreement with Hydro Québec under its power purchase program following the cancellation of its previous agreement. 
Under the new electricity supply agreement, FGC may deliver up to 45 megawatts of green energy from its cogeneration 
facility. By entering into a new agreement with Hydro Québec, the Company is preserving all of its options in respect of 
the cogeneration facility in order to maximize the value of the asset. At this time, however, management has no immediate 
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intention to restart operations at the pulp mill or to proceed with the conversion of the pulp mill into a dissolving pulp 
producer. 
 
The Company entered into an agreement with IQ whereby the Company received a non-refundable aggregate payment of 
$0.8 million for the purposes of reimbursing certain eligible care and maintenance expenditures incurred by the FGC mill 
between March and October 2014.  
 
The final duty imposed by MOFCOM on dissolving pulp imports from all other unnamed current or future Canadian 
dissolving pulp producers, which would include the FGC mill located in Lebel-sur-Quévillon, Québec upon conversion to 
a dissolving pulp producer exporting into China, is 23.7%. This duty materially impacts the economic viability of 
converting the FGC mill to a dissolving pulp mill. Since the net book value of the FGC assets have been impaired to $nil 
in 2013, all ongoing care and maintenance costs incurred in 2014 have been expensed in selling, general and 
administrative (“SG&A”) expenses.  
 
Selected Quarterly Information 
 
(thousands of dollars, except per share amounts, exchange rates and shares 
outstanding, unaudited) Q4 2014 Q3 2014 Q2 2014 Q1 2014 
     

Sales from continuing operations  74,449 80,374 67,262 53,856 
Net loss from continuing operations (13,244) (5,869) (20,108) (23,421) 
Net loss (1) (13,244) (6,074) (20,766) (23,421) 
Basic net loss per share from continuing operations   ($0.90)  ($0.40) ($1.38) ($1.61) 
Diluted net loss per share from continuing operations  ($0.90)  ($0.40) ($1.38)  ($1.61) 
Basic net loss per share (1) ($0.90)   ($0.42) ($1.42)  ($1.61) 
Diluted net loss per share(1) ($0.90)  ($0.42) ($1.42)  ($1.61) 
Weighted average shares outstanding - Basic (thousands) 

       
14,640 14,629 14,591 14,586 

Weighted average shares outstanding - Diluted (thousands) 
       

14,640 14,629 14,591 14,586 
Average Swiss/Canadian exchange rate(2) 1.1781 1.1905 1.2268 1.2358 
Average euro/Canadian exchange rate (2) 1.4189 1.4421 1.4955 1.5117 
Average US dollar/Canadian exchange rate (2) 1.1356 1.0890 1.0905 1.1033 
     
(1)     Including discontinued operations 
(2)     Source – Bank of Canada (average noon rate for the period). 

    

 
 
 

    

(thousands of dollars, except per share amounts, exchange rates and shares 
outstanding, unaudited) Q4 2013 Q3 2013 Q2 2013 Q1 2013 
     
Sales from continuing operations  37,183 53,160 59,883 57,559 
Net loss from continuing operations (54,731) (13,427) (20,851) (18,814) 
Net (loss) income (1) (54,731) (12,436) 134,125 (12,373) 
Basic net loss per share from continuing operations   ($3.76) ($0.92) ($1.43) ($1.30) 
Diluted net loss per share from continuing operations  ($3.76)  ($0.92) ($1.43) ($1.30) 
Basic net loss per share(1)  ($3.76)  ($0.85) $9.23 ($0.85) 
Diluted net income (loss) per share(1) ($3.76)  ($0.85) $9.23 ($0.85) 
Weighted average shares outstanding - Basic (thousands) 
 

14,574 14,561 14,536 14,502 
Weighted average shares outstanding - Diluted (thousands) 
 

14,574 14,561 14,536 14,502 
Average Swiss/Canadian exchange rate(2) 1.1626 1.1147 1.0862 1.0837 
Average euro/Canadian exchange rate (2) 1.4291 1.3759 1.3367 1.3312 
Average US dollar/Canadian exchange rate (2) 1.0494 1.0386 1.0231 1.0083 
     
(1)     Including discontinued operations 
(2)     Source – Bank of Canada (average noon rate for the period). 
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The first quarter of 2013 was characterized by production challenges and declining dissolving pulp prices, which 
contributed to disappointing results for the Dissolving Pulp Segment.  Operating results improved in the second quarter of 
2013 after the planned ten day maintenance shut-down.  Net loss from continuing operations was negatively impacted by 
a large deferred income tax expense that was accounted for in the second quarter.  The third quarter of 2013 was 
characterized by continued depressed dissolving pulp prices, trial runs of NBHK, and higher inventory levels.  Dissolving 
pulp sales activity was suspended entirely in the fourth quarter of 2013 as a result of the challenges caused by the 
announcement of the MOFCOM interim duty.  As a consequence of the duty, the FGC mill assets were impaired by $32.9 
million in addition to a $3.7 million inventory write-down at the FSC mill.  The FSC mill produced NBHK for 
approximately one month in the fourth quarter and initiated market downtime mid-December for approximately ten 
weeks. The first quarter of 2014 was impacted by the market downtime and a difficult March ramp-up.  The FSC mill 
produced NBHK through to late April when production was switched to dissolving pulp and continued through the end of 
the second quarter of 2014.  The second quarter of 2014 saw production and costing improvements as a result of 
management initiatives to increase production efficiencies. During the third quarter of 2014, the FSC mill produced 
dissolving pulp through to September when production switched to NBHK for a three week period.  The quarter continued 
to see production and costing improvements as reflected in the results; however, results continued to be impacted by poor 
market conditions and the impact of the final MOFCOM determination.  During the fourth quarter of 2014, the FSC mill 
continued producing dissolving pulp up until the planned annual maintenance shutdown in October.  Following the 
shutdown, the FSC mill produced NBHK for a two week period before switching back to the production of dissolving 
pulp for the remainder of the quarter. 
 
Product mix, high raw material costs, pricing pressure, a strong Swiss currency, and less than optimal production 
efficiency continues to impact the Security Paper Products Segment. An increase in volume sold during 2013 contributed 
to improving metrics, higher sales and better results for this segment.  The first quarter of 2013 was impacted by a realized 
gain of $1.9 million on the sale of non-core assets and included in the fourth quarter of 2013 was a $1.3 million legal 
provision.  The year ended December 31, 2014 continued with an increase in volumes, a more favourable product mix and 
enhanced operating efficiencies, resulting in improved results. The sale of Fortress Optical in the third quarter of 2014 
resulted in a realized gain of $9.1 million.  See “Significant Developments – Sale of Fortress Optical”. 
 
Fourth Quarter 2014 Earnings Review 
 
Three Months Ended December 31 
 
Overview 
 
EBITDA loss was $1.4 million for the three months ended December 31, 2014.  The Dissolving Pulp Segment generated 
EBITDA loss of $3.7 million and the Security Paper Products Segment generated EBITDA of $3.2 million. Corporate 
costs contributed $0.9 million to EBITDA loss. For the three months ended September 30, 2014, EBITDA loss was $1.5 
million and for the three months ended December 31, 2013, EBITDA loss was $9.4 million.  
 
Fortress reported an adjusted net loss of $11.9 million, or diluted adjusted net loss per share of $0.81 for the fourth quarter 
of 2014 on sales of $74.4 million.  In the third quarter of 2014, the Company reported an adjusted net loss of $5.7 million 
or diluted adjusted net loss per share of $0.39 on sales of $80.4 million, and for the fourth quarter of 2013, an adjusted net 
loss of $21.2 million or diluted adjusted net loss per share of $1.46 on sales of $37.2 million. 
 
Fortress reported net loss of $13.2 million, or diluted net loss per share of $0.90 for the fourth quarter of 2014. In the third 
quarter of 2014, the Company reported net loss of $5.9 million or diluted net loss per share of $0.40, and for the fourth 
quarter of 2013, net loss of $54.7 million or diluted net loss per share of $3.76. 
 
Manufacturing and distribution costs were $65.9 million or 88.5% of sales for the three months ended December 31, 
2014, compared to $70.0 million or 87.1% of sales for the three months ended September 30, 2014.  In the fourth quarter 
of 2013, manufacturing, product, freight and other distribution costs were $38.0 million or 102.1% of sales.  The 
increased costs are representative of the increased tonnage sold, partially offset by improved production cost per tonne 
through increased efficiencies and cost reduction strategies at each mill. 
 
SG&A expenses were $10.5 million for the fourth quarter of 2014, compared to $11.8 million for the third quarter of 
2014.  The prior year comparative period SG&A from continuing operations was $9.3 million.  SG&A was higher in the 
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current period relative to the prior year comparative period, primarily as a result of an increase in commission expense in 
both of the Dissolving Pulp and Security Paper Products Segments. 
 
Stock-based compensation expense remained constant at $0.2 million during the fourth and third quarter of 2014. The 
prior year comparative period stock-based compensation expense was $(0.3) million. Stock based compensation expense 
in the three months ended December 31, 2013 was impacted by a reversal of stock based compensation relating to a 
change in estimate for certain financial performance based compensation awards.     
 
Selected Financial Information and Statistics 
 
(thousands of dollars, except shipments, unaudited) 

 
Q4 2014 

  
Q3 2014 

 
Q4 2013 

     
Sales from continuing operations 74,449  80,374 37,183 
EBITDA loss from continuing operations(1) (1,396)   (1,478) (9,367) 
EBITDA loss (2) (3) (1,396)  (1,478) (9,367)  
Net loss from continuing operations  (13,244)  (5,869)             (54,731) 
Net loss (3) (4) (13,244)  (6,074) (54,731) 
Adjusted net loss from continuing operations (5)  (11,915)    (5,731) (21,247) 
Paper shipments (tonnes) (6) 2,270  2,436 2,097 
Pulp shipments (ADMT) 46,975  55,199 6,758 

(1) See Net Loss to EBITDA Reconciliation from Continuing Operations. 
(2) See Net Loss to EBITDA Reconciliation including Discontinued Operations. 
(3) Including discontinued operations. 
(4)     Including additional amounts relating to taxes and working capital recorded on the disposal of the Dresden mill.  
(5)     See Net Loss to Adjusted Net Loss Reconciliation from Continuing Operations. 
(6)     From continuing operations. 
  
Net Loss to Adjusted Net Loss Reconciliation from Continuing Operations:  
 
(thousands of dollars, except per share amounts, unaudited) 
 

 
Q4 2014  

 
Q3 2014 

 
Q4 2013 

     
Net loss from continuing operations (13,244)   (5,869) (54,731)  
Foreign exchange loss (gain)  829  138 (123) 
Impairment of property, plant and equipment -  - 32,907 
Legal provision 500  - 700 
Adjusted net loss  (11,915)  (5,731) (21,247)  
     
Basic and diluted net loss per share ($0.90)  ($0.40) ($3.76) 
Adjusted net loss per share, basic and diluted ($0.81)  ($0.39) ($1.46) 
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Net Loss to EBITDA Reconciliation from Continuing Operations: 
 
(thousands of dollars, unaudited) 

 
Q4 2014 

  
Q3 2014 

 
Q4 2013 

     
Net loss (13,244)  (5,869) (54,731) 
Income tax (recovery)  expense  (3,908)  37 620 
Foreign exchange loss (gain) 829  138 (123) 
Net finance expense 2,392  5,943 4,698 
Gain on extinguishment of debt (2,577)  - - 
Amortization of deferred borrowing costs 6,341  - - 
Amortization 7,259  7,249 6,821 
Loss (gain) on business disposal 70  (9,212) - 
Impairment of property, plant and equipment -  - 32,907 
Change in fair value of marketable securities 732  81 - 
Legal provision 500  - 700 
Stock based compensation 210  155 (259) 
EBITDA loss (1,396)  (1,478) (9,367) 
 

 
Net Loss to EBITDA Reconciliation Including Discontinued Operations: 
 
(thousands of dollars, unaudited) 

 
Q4 2014 

  
Q3 2014 

 
Q4 2013 

     
Net loss (13,244)  (6,074) (54,731) 
Income tax (recovery) expense (3,908)  37 620 
Foreign exchange loss (gain) 829  138 (123) 
Net finance expense 2,392  5,943 4,698 
Gain extinguishment of debt (2,577)  - - 
Amortization of deferred borrowing costs 6,341  - - 
Amortization 7,259  7,249 6,821 
Loss (gain) on business disposal 70  (9,212) - 
Loss on disposal of discontinued operations(1) -  205 -  
Impairment of property, plant and equipment -  - 32,907 
Change in fair value of marketable securities 732  81 - 
Legal provision 500  - 700 
Stock based compensation 210  155 (259) 
EBITDA loss (1,396)  (1,478) (9,367)  
 
(1)Additional amounts relating to taxes and working capital recorded on the disposal of the Dresden mill. 

 
Operating Results by Business Segment 
 
Dissolving Pulp Segment 
 
(thousands of dollars, except for shipments, unaudited) 

 
Q4 2014 

  
Q3 2014 

 
Q4 2013 

     
Sales 38,499  45,023 7,182 
     
Operating loss (8,767)   (6,238) (15,442)  
Amortization 5,096  5,058 4,644 
EBITDA (3,671)  (1,180) (10,798) 
     
NBHK Shipments (ADMT) 6,009  17,607 6,758 
Dissolving Pulp Shipments (ADMT) 40,966  37,592 - 
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As at December 31, 2014, the FSC mill held finished goods inventory consisting of 11,949 ADMT of dissolving pulp.  At 
September 30, 2014, the mill held finished goods inventory consisting of 19,235 ADMT of dissolving pulp and 1,387 
ADMT of NBHK.  The reduction in inventory levels at December 31, 2014 is consistent with management’s target to 
reduce inventory levels during the fourth quarter of 2014. At December 30, 2013, the mill held finished goods inventory 
consisting of 27,565 ADMT of dissolving pulp and 8,520 ADMT of NBHK.   
 
EBITDA loss for the Dissolving Pulp Segment for the quarter ended December 31, 2014 was $2.5 million greater, mainly 
due to the eight day annual shutdown and operational challenges in the lime kiln and re-caust areas, when compared to the 
third quarter of 2014, and $7.1 million less compared to the fourth quarter of 2013.  The Company sold 40,966 ADMT of 
dissolving pulp and 6,009 ADMT of NBHK in the fourth quarter of 2014.  Although the dissolving pulp market 
conditions continue to be challenging, production efficiencies and cash costs have improved relative to the prior year 
comparative period. 
 
The FSC mill produced dissolving pulp up until the planned annual maintenance shutdown in October 2014.  Following 
the shutdown, the FSC mill produced NBHK for a two week period before switching back to the production of dissolving 
pulp for the remainder of the quarter.  After a challenging ramp-up in early 2014 following market downtime, the FSC 
mill has since achieved improved production volumes and costs.  
 
In October 2013, the FSC mill successfully completed the mandatory testing for its cogeneration facility and began 
delivering power to Hydro Québec at the contracted commercial rate.  Revenues of $3.1 million from the cogeneration 
facility in the quarter ended December 31, 2014 were impacted by a crack on a gear in the turbine identified during the 
annual maintenance shut down in October 2014. Revenues from the generation of power at the cogeneration facility 
during the quarter ended September 30, 2014 were $4.5 million. 
 
Security Paper Products Segment  
 
(thousands of dollars, except for shipments, unaudited) 

 
Q4 2014 

  
Q3 2014 

 
Q4 2013 

     
Sales 35,950  35,351 30,000 
     
Operating income ( loss)  495  (1,108) (173) 
Amortization 2,163  2,191 2,177 
Legal provision 500  - 700 
EBITDA 3,158  1,083 2,704 
     
Shipments (tonnes) 2,270  2,436 2,097 
 
Operating income in the Security Paper Products segment for the fourth quarter of 2014 was $0.5 million compared to 
operating loss in the third quarter of 2014 of $1.1 million. Improved performance in the fourth quarter was largely driven 
by increased production efficiency and reduced waste rates at the Landqart mill. The results in the current quarter reflect 
product mix as well as timing of deliveries. 
 
EBITDA for the Security Paper Products Segment for the quarter ended December 31, 2014 was $2.1 million higher when 
compared to the third quarter of 2014, and $0.5 million higher when compared to the fourth quarter of 2013. The Landqart 
mill sold 2,270 tonnes of security paper in the fourth quarter of 2014, relatively constant compared to 2,436 tonnes of 
security paper sales in the third quarter of 2014.  
 
Security paper production includes banknotes, which result in varying degrees of costs and margins depending on the 
complexity of the security features included.  Despite the increase in sales, less than favourable conditions over the prior 
years, such as the strength of the Swiss franc against the euro, continue to adversely impact results.  
 
On September 16, 2014, the Company completed the sale of Fortress Optical and no longer produces OTM. See 
“Significant Developments – Sale of Fortress Optical”. Prior to its sale, Fortress Optical generated sales of $0.2 million in 
the third quarter of 2014. In the fourth quarter of 2013, $0.7 million of sales revenue was generated.  Fortress Optical 
began operations in 2011 and up until its sale, produced security material for security threads used in banknotes at the 
Fortress Optical Facility.  
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Year Ended December 31 
 
Selected Financial Information and Statistics for the Year Ended:  
 
(thousands of dollars, except shipments, unaudited) 

 
December 31,  

2014 

  
December 31,  

2013 

 
December 31,  

2012 
     
Sales from continuing operations 275,941  207,785 163,923 
EBITDA loss from continuing operations(1) (22,494)  (38,175) (43,649) 
EBITDA loss(2) (3) (22,494)  (24,219) (6,127) 
Net loss from continuing operations            (62,642)                    (107,823) (42,337) 
Net (loss) income(3) (4) (63,505)                    54,585 (21,668) 
Adjusted net loss from continuing operations (5)  (61,942)  (78,070) (61,568) 
Total assets 527,411  581,844 577,954 
Long-term debt 231,155  213,558 248,140 
Paper shipments (tonnes) (6) 9,210  8,085 4,658 
Pulp shipments (ADMT) 165,776  115,111 148,831 

(1) See Net Loss to EBITDA Reconciliation for Continuing Operations. 
(2) See Net (Loss) Income to EBITDA Reconciliation including Discontinued Operations. 
(3) Including discontinued operations. 
(4)     Including additional amounts relating to taxes and working capital recorded on the disposal of the Dresden mill. 
(5)     See Net Loss to Adjusted Net Loss Reconciliation for Continuing Operations. 
(6)     From continuing operations. 
 
Net Loss to Adjusted Net Loss Reconciliation for Continuing Operations: 
 
(thousands of dollars, except per share amounts, unaudited) 
 

December 31,  
2014 

 

 December 31,  
2013 

December 31,  
2012 

     
Net loss from continuing operations (62,642)  (107,823)  (42,337) 
Foreign exchange loss  1,075  138 66 
Gain on sale of property, plant and equipment (875)  (5,242)  (19,297)  
Impairment of property, plant and equipment -  32,907 - 
Legal provision 500  1,950 - 
Adjusted net loss from continuing operations (61,942)   (78,070) (61,568) 
     
Basic and diluted net loss per share ($4.29)  ($7.41) ($2.94) 
Adjusted net loss per share, basic and diluted ($4.24)  ($5.37) ($4.28) 
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Net Loss to EBITDA Reconciliation for Continuing Operations: 
 
(thousands of dollars, unaudited) 

 
December 31,  

2014 

  
 December 31,  

2013 

 
December 31,  

2012 
     
Net loss from continuing operations (62,642)  (107,823) (42,337) 
Income tax (recovery) expense (3,917)  1,586 (13,439) 
Foreign exchange loss  1,075  138 66 
Net finance expense 19,641  16,672 10,827 
Gain on extinguishment of debt (2,577)  - - 
Amortization of deferred borrowing costs 6,341  - - 
Amortization 28,052  19,732 15,669 
Impairment of property, plant and equipment -  32,907 - 
Gain on sale of property, plant and equipment (875)  (5,242) (19,297) 
Gain on business disposal (9,142)  - - 
Change in fair value of marketable securities 813  - - 
Dispute resolution accrual -  - 1,346 
Legal provision 500  1,950 - 
Stock based compensation 237  1,905 3,516 
EBITDA (22,494)  (38,175) (43,649) 
 
Net (Loss) Income to EBITDA Reconciliation Including Discontinued Operations: 
 
(thousands of dollars, unaudited) 

 
December 31,  

2014 

  
December 31,  

2013 

 
December 31,  

2012 
     
Net (loss) income  (63,505)  54,585 (21,668) 
Income tax (recovery) expense (3,917)  5,104 (4,443) 
Foreign exchange loss  1,075  162 144 
Net finance expense 19,641  18,198 15,111 
Gain on extinguishment of debt (2,577)  - - 
Amortization of deferred borrowing costs 6,341  - - 
Amortization 28,052  20,477 19,164 
Impairment of property, plant and equipment -  32,907 - 
Gain on sale of property, plant and equipment (875)  (5,242) (19,297) 
Gain on business disposal (9,142)  - - 
Loss (gain) on disposal of discontinued operations(1) 863  (154,265) - 
Change in fair value of marketable securities 813  - - 
Dispute resolution accrual -  - 1,346 
Legal provision 500  1,950 - 
Stock based compensation 237  1,905 3,516 
EBITDA (22,494)  (24,219)  (6,127) 
 
(1) Additional amounts relating to taxes and working capital recorded on the disposal of the Dresden mill. 

 
Overview 
 
EBITDA loss for the Company from continuing operations was $22.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2014 on 
sales of $275.9 million compared to EBITDA loss from continuing operations of $38.2 million in the year ended 
December 31, 2013 on sales of $207.8 million. The results in 2014 reflect the ten week market downtime at the FSC mill 
announced in mid-December 2013, and unusually cold temperatures at the mill site which increased heating costs both 
during the mill's downtime and the subsequent start-up period. These results are slightly offset by better performance in 
the Security Paper Products Segment and lower costs incurred at the corporate level compared to 2013.  
  
The Security Paper Products Segment generated EBITDA of $7.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2014 
compared to EBITDA of $2.7 million in the prior year comparative. The Dissolving Pulp Segment generated an EBITDA 
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loss of approximately $24.3 million in the year ended December 31, 2014 compared to $32.5 million EBITDA loss in the 
prior year comparative period.  Corporate costs contributed EBITDA loss of $5.2 million and $8.4 million for the year 
ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively.  
 
Adjusted net loss from continuing operations for the year ended December 31, 2014 was $61.9 million or $4.24 per share 
basic and diluted. Adjusted net loss from continuing operations for the prior comparative period was $78.1 million or 
$5.37 loss per share basic and diluted. 
 
Manufacturing and distribution costs from continuing operations equaled $252.4 million for the year ended December 31, 
2014 or 91.5% of sales compared to $206.7 million or 99.5% of sales for the year ended December 31, 2013.  The 
increased costs are representative of the increased tonnage sold, partially offset by improved production cost per tonne 
through increased efficiencies and cost reduction strategies at each mill.  
 
SG&A expenses were $46.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2014 compared to $41.2 million in the prior year 
comparative period.  The increase in the current year SG&A is in part due to additional logistic and storage costs of $2.8 
million incurred as a result of the MOFCOM duties as well as a $3.5 million increase in commission expense during the 
year.  For accounting purposes, the net book value of the FGC assets were impaired to $nil in the fourth quarter of 2013 as 
a result of the MOFCOM interim duty and its uncertainty relating to its final determination.  As a result, all ongoing care 
and maintenance costs incurred in 2014 were expensed in SG&A, which were partially reimbursed to the Company by 
non-refundable grants from IQ. A total of $1.8 million in SG&A was expensed relating to FGC in the year ended 
December 31, 2014 compared to $0.3 million in the prior year comparative period.  Also, during the year ended December 
31, 2014, the cogeneration facility at the FSC mill was operational and incurred additional costs reflecting higher 
insurance, professional fees and property taxes relating to the facility. Excluding these items, SG&A is comparable to the 
prior year.   
  
Stock based compensation was $0.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2014 compared to $1.9 million in the 
previous year comparative period. Stock based compensation expense for the year ended December 31, 2014 was 
impacted by a reversal of stock based compensation relating to a change in estimate for certain financial performance 
based compensation awards.   
 
Foreign exchange gains and losses relate primarily to translation losses or gains on foreign denominated debt. 
 
Operating Results by Business Segment 
 
Dissolving Pulp Segment 
 
(thousands of dollars, except for shipments, unaudited) 

  
December 31,  

2014 

  
December 31,  

2013 

 
December 31,  

2012 
      
Sales  137,220  88,637 106,857 
      
Operating loss  (43,535)  (44,177) (23,603) 
Amortization  19,219  11,691 7,927 
EBITDA loss  (24,316)  (32,486) (15,676) 
      
NBHK Shipments (ADMT)  50,646  8,129 - 
Dissolving Pulp Shipments (ADMT)  115,130  106,764 148,831 
 
Results for the year ended December 31, 2014 at the FSC mill were impacted by a slow and challenging ramp up after the 
planned ten week shutdown announced in December 2013, operational challenges and the impact of the final MOFCOM 
duty determination and related charges.  Compounding the impact on results were the lowest realized sales prices to date 
due to weakening market prices of dissolving pulp. 
 
After initiating restart procedures in early March 2014, the FSC mill produced NBHK through late April when production 
was switched to dissolving pulp for the remainder of the second quarter.  Dissolving pulp production exceeded 
expectations following a smooth transition from NBHK to dissolving pulp. The FSC mill continued to produce dissolving 
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pulp in the third quarter of 2014, switching to NBHK for a three week period at the end of September. The FSC mill 
produced dissolving pulp up until the planned annual maintenance shutdown in October. Following the shutdown, the 
FSC mill produced NBHK for a two week period before switching back to the production of dissolving pulp for the 
remainder of the quarter. The combined effect of improved production as a result of the work done during the downtime 
in the first quarter of 2014, cost reduction initiatives to reduce oil consumption, the labour cost reduction plan, and 
electricity generation, have resulted in overall improvements in the cost structure in 2014 compared to 2013. 
 
Results for the year ended December 31, 2013 at the FSC mill were impacted by production challenges related to 
operational and maintenance issues, ten days of market downtime and the two planned maintenance shut downs. 
 
Security Paper Products Segment 
 
(thousands of dollars, except for shipments, unaudited) 

  
December 31,  

2014 

  
December 31,  

2013 

 
December 31,  

2012 
      
Sales   138,721  119,148 57,066 
      
Operating loss  (2,286)  (7,256) (31,626) 
Amortization  8,833  8,041 7,742 
Dispute resolution accrual  -  - 1,346 
Legal provision  500  1,950 - 
EBITDA  7,047  2,735 (22,538) 
      
Shipments (tonnes)  9,210  8,085 4,658 
 
The year ended December 31, 2014 showed a significant improvement compared to the prior year comparative period in 
respect of volumes shipped and sales which have increased materially resulting in longer production runs and, therefore, 
more efficient operations. Key performance indicators, such as waste rates and operational efficiencies, improved in 2014 
compared to the prior year period.  
 
Selected Cash Flow Items 
(thousands of dollars)    Year Ended 

December 31, 
2014 

Year Ended 
December 31, 

2013 
Cash provided by (used by) operating activities      

Cash used by operations before working capital changes    (22,837) (28,415) 
Non-cash working capital change    28,807 (25,785) 
    5,970 (54,200) 
      
Cash (used) provided by financing activities    (11,817) (68,033) 
      
Cash (used) generated by investing activities      
Additions to property, plant and equipment    (15,126) (60,697) 
Other    5,369 207,798 
    (9,757) 147,101 
      
Change in cash position    (15,604) 24,868 

Foreign exchange (loss) gain on cash and cash equivalents    (1,367) 5,529 
 

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period    61,888 31,491 
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period    44,917 61,888 
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Operating Activities 
 
Fortress operates in a cyclical industry and its operating cash flows vary accordingly.  Fortress’ principal operating cash 
expenditures are for labour and raw materials.  Operating activities provided cash of $6.0 million and used $54.2 million 
of cash in the twelve months ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively. Working capital is subject to cyclical 
operating needs, the timing of collection of receivables and the payment of payables and expenses.  The movement in 
working capital in the year ended December 31, 2014 was impacted by an increase in accounts receivable, a significant 
decrease in inventories and an increase in accounts payable.  
 
Financing Activities 
 
During the 2014 fiscal year, financing activities used cash of $11.8 million.  The Company made $1.2 million and $10.6 
million in long term debt repayments and long term debt interest payments, respectively.   
 
During the 2013 fiscal year, financing activities used cash of $68.0 million. During the period, the Dresden mill entered 
into two credit facilities in the aggregate amount of €15 million (approximately $19.9 million) with Commerzbank AG.  
The new facilities were repaid, together with all other outstanding Dresden indebtedness (approximately $70.3 million), as 
a condition of and concurrently with the closing of the sale of the Dresden mill.  In addition, $17.6 million in interest was 
paid on long term debt. 
 
Investing Activities 
 
Investing activities in the twelve months of 2014 used cash of $9.8 million. Investing activities relating to the purchase of 
equipment and other capital expenditures at the mills was $15.1 million. Net proceeds from the sale of Fortress Optical 
provided cash of $6.7 million.  Restricted cash, relating to cash security provided primarily for banknote contracts in the 
Security Paper Products Segment provided $0.5 million in cash. 
 
Investing activities in the twelve months of 2013 provided cash of $147.1 million. In 2013, the sale of the Dresden mill 
resulted in cash proceeds of $212.2 million which were offset by $2.1 million of costs associated with the sale of the 
Dresden mill, $60.7 million in additions to property, plant and equipment primarily at the FSC mill and $11.5 million in 
restricted cash. Restricted cash relates to cash security provided primarily for banknote contracts in the Security Paper 
Products Segment. Non-core asset sales at the Landqart mill provided cash of $9.2 million in 2013. 
 
Liquidity and Capital Resources 
 
As at December 31, 2014, the Company had a cash and cash equivalents balance of $44.9 million.  The Company 
anticipates that approximately $4.8 million in cost improvement capital expenditures will be required through to the end 
of 2015 in order to achieve production efficiency targets, reduced production costs, and health, safety and environmental 
objectives at the FSC mill.  In addition, anticipated business maintenance capital expenditure is expected to be 
approximately $5 million and $3 million annually at the FSC mill and the Landqart mill, respectively.  
 
Although there can be no assurances, Fortress believes that current cash, cash generated from operations, cashflow 
derived from improved inventory management, and cash from the sale of non-core assets, should be sufficient to meet its 
debt service, capital expenditure and short term working capital requirements. Fortress has also entered, in the normal 
course, into pulp distribution arrangements for inventory management, logistics, and ancillary services relating to pulp 
being distributed by the FSC mill, which the Company expects will also improve financial flexibility in response to 
market fluctuations. Fortress’ future operating performance and its ability to finance capital expenditures, service its debt 
and pay other indebtedness will be subject to future economic conditions, the potential renegotiation of existing 
indebtedness, the financial success of Fortress’ business, the successful ability to swing production between dissolving 
pulp and NBHK at the FSC mill to maximize margins in response to changing market conditions, combined with the cost 
benefits expected to be derived from the cogeneration facility and other cost savings initiatives, and other factors, some of 
which are not within Fortress’ control, including but not limited to changes in market prices for its products, raw materials 
costs, foreign currency exchange rates and the MOFCOM duty.  No assurances are given as to the likelihood that the 
outcome of any such factors will be successful or will operate to positively impact the Company’s business, operations 
and/or financial results. 
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In addition, Fortress may in the normal course of business advance the amount of duties owing on the importation of 
dissolving pulp into China. Fortress may determine, in its sole discretion, that market or financial conditions may warrant 
that it seek additional sources of capital on terms satisfactory to Fortress, including, but not limited to additional debt or 
equity financing, in order to fund capital expenditures, provide additional working capital, enhance liquidity or for other 
general corporate purposes.  
 
On December 3, 2014, the Company announced that the FSC mill entered into an amendment agreement with IQ in respect 
of its project financing loan.  Under the amended agreement, no principal repayments will be made or interest accrued or 
paid on the balance of the loan until December 31, 2016. If the mill reaches certain free cash flow targets, payments of up to 
$14.3 million may be made to IQ beginning in 2021. The maturity date of the loan was extended from April 30, 2020 to 
December 31, 2026 with equal quarterly payments beginning in 2017.  In conjunction with the amendment, the Company 
cancelled the previously issued 715,000 share purchase warrants and issued 1,000,000 replacement share purchase warrants 
to IQ.  The Company is required to make minimum aggregate capital expenditures of $25.0 million during the fiscal years 
ending December 31, 2014, 2015 and 2016. As at December 31, 2014, the Company has made $11.9 million in capital 
expenditures towards the $25.0 million minimum spend requirement.  The amendment was treated as a debt extinguishment, 
and, as a result, the Company recorded a debt extinguishment gain of $2.6 million.   
 
Repayments of principal for debt outstanding as at December 31, 2014 are required as follows: 
 

   ($ 000’s) 
    

2015    1,192 
2016    42,003 
2017   37,690 
2018   10,845 
2019   79,786 
Thereafter    74,528 

    
   246,044 

 
The Company received non-refundable grants from IQ in the aggregate amount of $1.5 million in 2014 and $0.8 million in 
2013 to cover certain costs and expenses relating to the care and maintenance of the FGC mill.   
 
Commitments 
 
As at December 31, 2014, the Company had aggregate indebtedness of $232.3 million net of unamortized borrowing costs 
and net working capital of $86.6 million.  
 
As at December 31, 2014 the Company has:  

• committed to purchase $3.8 million in property, plant, and equipment; and 
• performance bonds in the amount of €10.0 million. 

The minimum operating lease commitments for equipment, storage, and offices over the next five years and thereafter are 
as follows: 

 ($ 000’s) 
  

2015 1,183 
2016  611 
2017  293 
2018 227 
2019 173 
Thereafter  – 

 2,487 
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The Company’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard its assets and maintain a globally competitive cost 
structure while looking for growth opportunities to provide returns to its shareholders. In addition, the Company works 
with relevant stakeholders to ensure the safety of its operations and employees, and remain in compliance with applicable 
environmental regulations and enhance the communities in which it operates. 
 
The Company monitors and assesses on an ongoing basis its financial performance in order to ensure that its net debt 
levels are prudent taking into account the anticipated direction of the business cycle. The Company continuously monitors 
the public and private debt markets and the public equity markets in order to ensure that its capital structure is 
appropriately balanced.  The Company can be influenced materially by changes in the relative value of the Canadian 
dollar, Swiss franc, United States dollar and euro. 
 
The Company’s capital comprises net debt and shareholders’ equity as follows: 

 
(thousands of dollars, unaudited) December 31, 

2014 
$ 

December 31, 
2013 

$ 
   

Cash and cash equivalents 44,917 61,888 
Less total debt 232,347 228,130 
Net debt  (187,430) (166,242) 

Shareholders’ equity          232,914 302,278 
 

The Company has certain financial covenants stipulating maximum long-term debt to adjusted net worth ratios and 
minimum working capital ratios.  Debt obligations are held by various entities within the Company with individual debt 
agreements specifying the entities within the Company that are to be included in the covenant calculations.   
 
The Company ensures it remains in compliance with all of its existing debt covenants in order to facilitate future access to 
capital.  Management reviews past results and forecasts to monitor their compliance. The Company was in compliance 
with all externally imposed capital requirements for the period ended December 31, 2014.  
 
Outstanding Shares 
 
The number of common shares outstanding at December 31, 2014 and the date of this report was 14,655,245 and 
14,679,321, respectively.  The number of options outstanding at December 31, 2014 and the date of this report was 
590,725.  At December 31, 2014 and the date of this report there were 256,831 and 252,043 restricted share units 
outstanding.  At December 31, 2014 and the date of this report there were 204,405 and 249,778 deferred share units 
outstanding, respectively.  
 
Related Party Transactions 
 
Related party transactions consist of remuneration of directors and other key management personnel with whom we have 
entered into employment agreements. Further information is contained in our management information circulars in respect 
of our annual general meetings of shareholders, which are filed on SEDAR at www.sedar.com. 
 
Contingencies 
 
Provisions for liabilities relating to legal actions and claims require judgments using management's best estimates 
regarding projected outcomes and the range of loss, based on such factors as historical experiences and recommendations 
of legal counsel. Actual results may vary from estimates and the differences are recorded when known.  
 
Critical Accounting Estimates 
 
The preparation of financial statements and related disclosures in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted 
in Canada requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial 

http://www.sedar.com/
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statements and accompanying notes. Significant estimates are used for, but not limited to, the accounting for doubtful 
accounts, amortization, asset recoverability, fair valuation of acquired assets, fair value of marketable securities, pensions 
and post-retirement obligations, provisions, stock compensation, income taxes and contingencies. Actual results could differ 
from these estimates. 

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated amortization. 

No amortization is charged on major improvements or expansions until the asset is ready for its intended use. Subsequent 
costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognized as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable 
that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Company.  The carrying amount of the replaced part is 
derecognized.  Maintenance, repairs and minor replacements are expensed as incurred.  The carrying amount of a replaced 
asset is derecognized when it is replaced. 

Property, plant and equipment are principally amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives 
as follows: 

 
Buildings 10-50 years 
Manufacturing equipment and machinery 5-20 years 
Fixtures and other equipment 3-10 years 

 
The Company allocates the amount initially recognized in respect of an item of property, plant and equipment to its 
significant components and amortizes each such part separately.  Residual values, methods of amortization and useful lives 
are reviewed at year end and adjusted if appropriate. 
 
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets 
 
In accordance with the Company’s accounting policy, each asset or cash generating unit is evaluated at each reporting date to 
determine whether there are any indicators of impairment.  If any such indication exists, a formal estimate of recoverable 
amount is performed and an impairment loss is recognized to the extent that the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable 
amount.  The recoverable amount has been determined by the Company as the value in use. 
 
The determination of value in use requires management to make estimates and assumptions about expected production and 
sales volumes, prices, operating costs, capital expenditures, and appropriate discount rates for future cash flows.  The 
estimates and assumptions are subject to risks and uncertainties, and as such there is the possibility that changes in 
circumstances will alter these projections, which may impact the recoverable amount of the assets.  In such circumstances, 
some or all of the carrying value of the assets may be further impaired or the impairment charge reduced with the impact 
recorded in the statement of income. 
 
As at December 31, 2014, the Company’s market capitalization was lower than the carrying amount of its net assets.  
Management of the Company determined that this constituted an impairment indicator and completed separate impairment 
assessments of the FSC and Landqart mills. 

 
An impairment assessment model for the FSC mill included the following assumptions: 

 
• Operating costs based on historical costs incurred and estimated forecasts. 
• Production volumes based on full production at industry normal utilization rates. 
• Efficiencies and production increases from future planned capital projects were not included. 
• Dissolving pulp pricing based on externally available pricing forecasts. 
• Discount rates reflecting the risks involved. 
 

Key sensitivities for inputs in the impairment assessment model for the FSC mill are as follows: 
 
• For each 1% change in the price of dissolving pulp, the calculated fair value of the cash generating unit 

changes by approximately $16.0 million. 
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• For each $0.01 change in the Canadian dollar when compared to the United States dollar, the calculated 
fair value of the cash generating unit changes by approximately $15.8 million.  

 
An impairment assessment model for the Landqart mill included the following assumptions: 

 
• Operating costs based on historical costs incurred and estimated forecasts. 
• Production volumes based on full production at industry normal utilization rates. 
• Efficiencies and production increases from future planned capital projects were not included. 
• Security product pricing based on historical results and estimated forecasts. 
• Discount rates reflecting the risks involved. 
 

Management’s impairment evaluation did not result in the identification of an impairment loss at the FSC mill or the 
Landqart mill as at December 31, 2014.   
 
The Company is continuing to evaluate options with respect to the FGC mill located at Lebel-sur-Quévillon, Québec.  
During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company recognized an impairment loss of $32.9 million resulting in a $nil 
net book value of equipment at the Fortress Global Cellulose mill. 
 
Employee Future Benefits 
 
The Company maintains defined contribution pension plans in Canada. The total cost recognized in 2014 for the Company’s 
contribution to the plans was $1.2 million (2013: $1.3 million).  
 
The Company maintains a defined benefit pension plan in Switzerland providing pension benefits based on either length of 
service or earnings and length of service.  The Company measures its accrued benefit obligations and fair value of plan assets 
for accounting purposes as at December 31 of each year.  The most recent actuarial valuation for the plan was for December 
31, 2014.  Actuarial valuations include certain assumptions that directly affect the fair value of the assets and obligations and 
expenses recorded in the financial statements.  Actual experience can vary materially from the estimates and impact the cost 
of the Company's pension and future cash flow requirements.  These assumptions and estimates include: 
 
 December 31, 

2014 
December 31, 

2013 
Significant actuarial assumptions are as follows % % 
Discount rate to determine benefit obligations at end of year 1.2 2.2 
Rate of increase in future compensation  1.5 1.5 
   
Plan assets at fair value at the end of the year % % 
Liquid assets  2.3 3.2 
Bonds  50.1 49.3 
Equity  28.9 28.1 
Real estate  18.4 19.4 
Other 0.3 0.0 

 100.0 100.0 
 

The sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation to changes in assumptions is set out below. 
 

  Ending 
Obligation 

December 31, 
2014 

$ 
Sensitivity for the ending defined benefit obligation   
Discount rate 1.2% - 0.25%  93,054 
Discount rate 1.2% + 0.25%  85,955 
Salary decrease 1.5% - 0.25%  89,077 
Salary increase 1.5% + 0.25%  89,691 
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Life expectancy - 1 year  89,693 
Life expectancy + 1 year  92,016 
   

 
Deferred Taxes 
 
In accordance with IFRS, Fortress recognizes deferred income tax assets when it is probable that the deferred income tax 
assets will be realized.  This assumption is based on management’s best estimate of future circumstances and events.  If these 
estimates and assumptions are changed in the future, the value of the deferred income tax assets could be reduced or 
increased, resulting in an income tax expense or recovery.  Fortress reevaluates its deferred income tax assets on a regular 
basis. 

Provisions 

Provisions for legal claims, where applicable, are recognized as liabilities when the Company has a present legal or 
constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is more likely than not that an outflow of resources will be required to 
settle the obligation, and the amount can be reliably estimated.  Provisions are measured at management’s best estimate of 
the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the end of the reporting year, and are discounted to present value where the 
effect is material.  

Landfills / Environmental Remediation 

The Company has costs associated with containment and ongoing maintenance relating to landfill sites in Canada. These 
costs are measured at fair value, which approximates the cost a third party would incur in performing the tasks associated 
with the landfill sites. These obligations represent estimated undiscounted future payments of $0.5 million to remediate the 
landfills at the end of their useful lives. These payments are expected to occur within the next 12 months and have been 
recorded in accounts payable.   
 
As part of the purchase, of the FGC mill, FGC entered into an environmental trust agreement (the “Environmental Trust”) to 
be used for environmental remediation for potential problems that existed at the date of purchase.  FGC does not have access 
to, and cannot control, the funds in the Environmental Trust. FGC must fund the $7.0 million remaining obligation over the 
next three years following the entering into of the Environmental Trust in intervals.  FGC must also fund another $2.5 
million in the event that the FGC mill is dismantled in the future. The liability for existing environmental liabilities at the 
date of purchase has been limited at the amounts set out above.  Any further environmental remediation costs are to be paid 
by the previous owners of the mill and the provincial government.  The discount rates used for the valuation of the long-term 
liability range from 6.8% to 8.0% depending on the timing of the expected payment.  The discount rate used for the valuation 
of the $2.5 million provision is 9.8%.   

Warrants  
 

On December 3, 2014, the Company issued 1,000,000 share purchase warrants to IQ in connection with the signing of a loan 
amendment agreement for FSC's project financing. The warrants have an exercise price of $5.00 and are exercisable up to 
December 3, 2019, when they expire. The warrants were valued at $0.76 per warrant at the grant date using the Black 
Scholes pricing model.  The Black Scholes pricing model requires the input of highly subjective assumptions including the 
expected share price volatility. Changes in the assumptions can materially affect the fair value estimate and, therefore, 
changes to the existing models may provide a materially different measure of the fair value of the Company’s warrants. 
Assumptions used in the pricing model were as follows: 
 

  2014 

Risk-free interest rate  1.5% 
Expected life of warrants  5 years 
Annualized share price volatility  62.28% 

 
 
The one million share purchase warrants issued to IQ replaced the 715,000 share purchase warrants issued to IQ on June 20, 
2012. The Company recognized an expense of $6.3 million in the year ended December 31, 2014 in relation to such warrant 
cancellation and due to the facility no longer being available to be drawn upon.   
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New Accounting Pronouncements 
 
Changes in accounting policies 
 
IFRIC 21 – Levies 

The Company has adopted IFRIC 21, Levies, which provides guidance on when an obligating event occurs that gives rise to 
a liability to pay a government levy that is not income tax. The adoption did not have a material impact on the Company’s 
financial statements.  

Accounting standards issued and not applied  
 
IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments- Classification and Measurement 

The final version of IFRS 9 was issued in July 2014 and includes (i) a third measurement category for financial assets, and 
(ii) a single forward looking expected loss impairment model. IFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
January 1, 2018.  

Amendments to IFRS 7 - Financial Instruments: Disclosures  

IFRS 7 is amended to require additional disclosures on transition from IAS 39 to IFRS 9. The Amendment of IFRS 7 is 
effective on adoption of IFRS 9.  

IFRS 15 - Revenue from Contracts with Customers  

This new standard on revenue recognition supersedes IAS 18 - Revenue, IAS 11 - Construction Contracts, and related 
interpretations. IFRS 15 is effective for the first interim period beginning on or after January 1, 2017. 

Amendments to IAS 1 - Presentation of Financial Statements  

IAS 1 is amended to clarify guidance on materiality and aggregation, the presentation of subtotals, the structure of financial 
statements and the disclosure of accounting policies.   The amendment of IAS 1 is effective for years beginning on or after 
January 1, 2016.  

The Company is currently evaluating the impact from the adoption of these standards. 

Risks and Uncertainties 
 
A comprehensive discussion of risk factors is included in the Company’s Annual Information Form dated March 31, 
2014, available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com. Those as well as the following additional risks may impact the business of 
the Company.  
 
Financial Risk Management  

 
The Company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk.  

 
(a) Credit Risk 
 
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails 
to meet its contractual obligations. Credit risk is managed on a Company basis, except for credit risk relating to 
accounts receivable balances. Each local entity is responsible for managing and analyzing the credit risk for each 
of their new clients before standard payment and delivery terms and conditions are offered. Credit risk arises from 
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cash and cash equivalents, and deposits with banks and financial institutions, as well as credit exposures to 
customers. 
 
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on deposit and cash equivalents with an original maturity date of 90 days 
or less. In order to mitigate the risk of financial loss, cash on deposit is held with major Canadian and 
international financial institutions.  The cash and cash equivalents balance at December 31, 2014 was $44.9 
million (2013: $61.9 million).   

 
The Company utilizes credit insurance to manage the risk associated with trade receivables.  Approximately 86% 
of the outstanding trade receivables are covered under credit insurance or backed by letters of credit.  The 
majority of the balance is with large and financially sound customers, including national banks.  The Company 
sells the majority of its pulp through a third party agent that takes ownership of the inventory before it is delivered 
to the final customer.  Accounts receivable aged greater than 90 days are $0.5 million of which $0.2 million is 
provided for as potentially impaired.  The remaining amount is considered collectable. The Company’s trade 
receivable balance at December 31, 2014 was $18.4 million (2013: $12.4 million).  At December 31, 2014, 
approximately, 97% of the trade accounts receivable balance was within the Company’s established credit terms. 

 
(b) Liquidity Risk 

 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will be unable to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.  Cash 
flow forecasting is performed in the operating entities of the Company in and aggregated by Company finance. 
Company finance monitors rolling forecasts of the Company’s liquidity requirements to ensure it has sufficient 
cash to meet operational needs while not breaching borrowing limits or covenants.  The Company manages 
liquidity risk through management of its capital structure in conjunction with cash flow forecasting including 
anticipated investing and financing activities.  The Company manages liquidity risk through ongoing review of 
accounts receivable balances and the management of its cash and debt positions.   
 
At December 31, 2014, the Company’s current portion of long term debt, accounts payable and accrued liabilities 
totaled $45.6 million (2013: $48.6 million), all of which fall due for payment within one year of the statement of 
financial position date. 
 
Although there can be no assurances, Fortress believes that current cash, cash generated from operations, cashflow 
derived from improved inventory management, and cash from the sale of non-core assets, should be sufficient to 
meet its debt service, capital expenditure and short term working capital requirements for the next year. Fortress' 
future operating performance and its ability to service its debt and pay other indebtedness of Fortress will be subject 
to future economic conditions and the financial success of Fortress' business and other factors, many of which are 
not within Fortress' control, including changes in market prices for its dissolving pulp, security papers and raw 
material costs.  See “Liquidity and Capital Resources”. 

 
(c) Market Risk 

 
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in interest rates and foreign currency. 

 
(i) Currency risk: 

 
The Company is exposed to foreign exchange risk primarily in euros, Swiss francs and United States 
dollars. The Company’s products are sold globally with prices denominated primarily in euros, Swiss 
francs and United States dollars.  The majority of the Company’s  expenditures are denominated in 
Canadian dollars, Swiss francs and euros. In addition, the Company holds financial assets and liabilities 
mainly in the local operating currencies. 
 
An increase in the value of the Canadian dollar by $0.01 when compared to the US$ would result in a pre-
tax loss of approximately $0.1 million in relation to working capital balances held by Canadian entities 
denominated in US$ at December 31, 2014 (including cash, accounts receivable, and accounts payable).   
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An increase in the value of the Swiss franc by CHF 0.01 when compared to the € would result in a pre-tax 
loss of approximately CHF 0.2 million in relation to working capital balances held by Landqart 
denominated in € at December 31, 2014 (including cash, accounts receivable, and accounts payable). 
 
For the years ended December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, the Company did not use derivative 
instruments to reduce its exposure to currency risk for sales denominated in a foreign currency.   

 
(d) Sensitivity Analysis 
 
The Company has completed a sensitivity analysis to estimate the impact on operating earnings for the year that a 
change in foreign exchange rates or interest rates during the year ended December 31, 2014 would have had. 

 
This sensitivity analysis includes the following assumptions: 

 
• Changes in individual foreign exchange rates do not cause foreign exchange in other countries to alter; 

and 
• Changes in market interest rates do not cause a change in foreign exchange rates. 

 
The results of the foreign exchange sensitivity analysis can be seen in the following table: 

 
 Impact on operating 

income 
$ 

Change in CHF exchange rates   
Strengthening of 1% compared to € foreign exchange rate - 0.6 million 
   
Change in Canadian dollar exchange rate   
Strengthening of 1% compared to US$ foreign exchange rate - 1.2 million 
 
 

The above results arise due to the impact of foreign currency fluctuations on operations for transactions 
denominated in euros and US$. Fortress will continue to monitor and evaluate the future use of exchange 
contracts to limit exposure to exchange fluctuations. 
 
Changes in market interest rates would have no significant impact on operating income. 

 
Limitations of sensitivity analysis 
 
The financial position of the Company may vary at the time that a change in the factors occurs, causing the impact 
on the Company’s results to differ from that shown above. 

 
Disclosure Controls and Internal Controls over Financial Reporting  
 
The Company has established disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that information disclosed in this MD&A and the 
related financial statements was properly recorded, processed, summarized and reported to the board of directors of the 
Company and the Audit Committee.  The Company’s chief executive officer (“CEO”) and chief financial officer (“CFO”) 
have evaluated the effectiveness of these disclosure controls and procedures for the year ending December 31, 2014, and 
have concluded that they are effective. 
 
The CEO and CFO acknowledge responsibility for the design of internal controls over financial reporting (“ICFR”), and 
confirm that there were no changes in these controls that occurred during the year ended December 31, 2014 which 
materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s ICFR.  Based upon their evaluation of these 
controls for the year ended December 31, 2014, the CEO and CFO have concluded that these controls are operating 
effectively. 
 
 



PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
PricewaterhouseCoopers Place 250 Howe Street, Suite 700, Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada V6C 3S7
T:+1 604 806 7000, F: +1 604 806 7806 www.pwc.com/ca

“PwC” refers to PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an Ontario limited liability partnership.

March 9, 2015

Independent Auditor’s Report

To the Shareholders of Fortress Paper Ltd.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Fortress Paper Ltd. and its
subsidiaries, which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31, 2014
and December 31, 2013 and the consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive (loss) income,
changes in equity and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes, which comprise a
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s responsibility for the consolidated financial statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control
as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment,
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control
relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Fortress Paper Ltd. and its subsidiaries as at December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 and
their financial performance and their cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards.

signed “PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP”

Chartered Accountants
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FORTRESS PAPER LTD. 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

  
(Canadian dollars, amounts in thousands) 

 
 

Note 

December 31, 
2014 

$ 

December 31, 
2013 

$ 
ASSETS    
Current    
Cash and cash equivalents   44,917 61,888 
Restricted cash 5 13,991 14,934 
Trade accounts receivable  6 18,424 12,446 
Other accounts receivable 7 5,988 8,751 
Inventories  8 44,009 62,390 
Marketable securities 9,10            3,210 − 
Prepaid expenses 15 1,595 8,486 
  132,134 168,895 
    
Other long-term receivable 10 3,000 − 
Property, plant and equipment  12 392,277 412,949 
    
Total assets  527,411 581,844 
    
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY    
Current    
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 13 44,382 34,044 
Current portion of long-term debt  15 1,192 14,572 
  45,574 48,616 
    
Long-term debt  15 231,155 213,558 
Deferred income taxes 14 1,458 4,734 
Provisions and other long-term liabilities 16 7,325 7,921 
Employee future benefits 17 8,985 4,737 
Total liabilities  294,497 279,566 
 
Shareholders' equity 

   

Share capital  18 181,083 180,040 
Contributed surplus  25,899 25,950 
Retained earnings  7,066 75,368 
Accumulated other comprehensive income  18,866 20,920 
Total shareholders' equity   232,914 302,278 
    
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity  527,411 581,844 
    
Commitments 23   

(See accompanying notes) 
 
Approved by the Board of Directors: 
  

“Chadwick Wasilenkoff” 
 

Director 

“Anil Wirasekara” 
 

Director 
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FORTRESS PAPER LTD. 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS 

 
(Canadian dollars, amounts in thousands) 

 
 

Note 

December 31,  
2014 

$ 

December 31,  
2013 

$ 
    
Sales  275,941 207,785 
    
Costs and expenses    
Manufacturing and distribution costs   (252,390) (206,730) 
Amortization 12 (28,052) (19,732) 
Selling, general and administration  (46,545)  (41,180) 
Stock-based compensation  19 (237) (1,905) 
Operating loss  (51,283) (61,762) 
 
Other income (expense) 

   

Finance expense  20 (20,040) (16,970) 
Finance income  20               399 298 
Gain on sale of property, plant and equipment 12 875 5,242 
Gain on disposal of business 10 9,142 − 
Change in fair value of marketable securities 9,10 (813) − 
Impairment of property, plant and equipment 12 − (32,907) 
Gain on extinguishment of debt 15 2,577 − 
Amortization of deferred borrowing costs 18 (6,341) − 
Foreign exchange loss  (1,075) (138) 
Net (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes  (66,559) (106,237) 
Income tax  recovery (expense) 14 3,917 (1,586) 
Net (loss) from continuing operations  (62,642)      (107,823) 
Net (loss) income from discontinued operations 11 (863) 162,408 
    
Net (loss) income   (63,505) 54,585 
    
Loss and diluted loss per share from continuing operations  (4.29)  (7.41) 
(Loss) earnings per share and diluted (loss) earnings per share 21            (4.35)  3.75 
    
 
Weighted average number of shares outstanding 

   

Basic and diluted  21 14,611,713 14,543,597 
 
 
 
 
 

 
(See accompanying notes) 



3 
 

FORTRESS PAPER LTD. 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS) INCOME 

 
(Canadian dollars, amounts in thousands) 

 
 

Note  

December 31,  
2014 

$ 

December 31,  
2013 

$ 
    

Net (loss) income for the year  (63,505) 54,585 
    

Other comprehensive (loss) income     
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to net income    
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations  (2,054) 18,768 
    
Items that will not be reclassified to net (loss) income    
Actuarial loss recognized on employee future benefits (net of taxes of ($838), and 

$521) 
17 (4,797) (2,604) 

Total other comprehensive (loss) income            (6,851)     16,164 
    
Total comprehensive (loss) income  (70,356) 70,749 

    
 

(See accompanying notes) 
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FORTRESS PAPER LTD. 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

(Canadian dollars, amounts in thousands) 

 
 

Note 

December 31,  
2014 

$ 

December 31,  
2013 

$ 
    
Share capital 18   
Balance at beginning of period  180,040 178,052 
Restricted share units vested  891 1,619 
Deferred share units vested  152 369 
Balance at end of period  181,083 180,040 
    
Contributed surplus    
Balance at beginning of period  25,950 26,078 
Stock-based compensation 19 237 1,905 
Early vesting of restricted share units on sale of discontinued operations 11 − 221 
Restricted share units vested 19 (891) (1,619) 
Deferred share units vested 19 (152) (369) 
Warrants  755 − 
Deferred income tax adjustment  − (266) 
Balance at end of period  25,899 25,950 
    
Retained earnings    
Balance at beginning of period  75,368 23,387 
Net (loss) income  (63,505) 54,585 
Defined benefit plan actuarial loss, net of tax  (4,797) (2,604) 
Balance at end of period  7,066          75,368 
    
Accumulated other comprehensive income    
Balance at beginning of period  20,920 2,152 
Cumulative translation adjustment on foreign operations  (2,054) 18,768 
Balance at end of period  18,866 20,920 
    
    
Total equity  232,914 302,278 
    

 
(See accompanying notes) 
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FORTRESS PAPER LTD. 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

(Canadian dollars, amounts in thousands) 

 
 

Note 

December 31, 
2014 

$ 

December 31, 
2013 

$ 
Cash flows from (used by) operating activities    
Net (loss)  income for the year  (63,505) 54,585 
Adjustments:    

 Gain on disposal of business 10 (9,142) − 
 Loss (gain) on disposal of discontinued operations 11 863 (154,265) 
Change in fair value of marketable securities 9,10 813 − 
 Amortization 25 28,052 20,477 
 Income tax (recovery) expense  14 (3,917) 5,104 
 Income taxes paid  (85) (2,003) 
 Foreign exchange loss (gain)  918 (342) 
 Finance expense 20 20,040 18,459 
Gain on extinguishment of debt 15 (2,577) − 
Amortization of deferred borrowing costs 18 6,341 − 
Gain on sale of property, plant and equipment 12 (875) (5,242) 
 Impairment of property, plant and equipment 12 − 32,907 
 Stock-based compensation 19 237 1,905 

  (22,837) (28,415) 
Change in non-cash working capital items    

Accounts receivable   (3,644) 14,867 
Inventories   18,045 (20,022) 
Prepaid expenses  486 (1,017) 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities and other  13,920 (19,613) 

  5,970 (54,200) 
    
Cash flows from (used by) financing activities     
Repayment of long-term debt  15 (1,200) (52,306) 
Proceeds from long-term debt  15 − 19,860 
Repurchase of factored accounts receivable  − (18,006) 
Payment of long-term debt interest  (10,617) (17,581) 
  (11,817) (68,033) 
    
Cash flows from (used by) investing activities    
Additions to property, plant and equipment   (15,126) (60,697) 
Proceeds from sale of discontinued operations  − 212,240 
Adjustments and costs associated with disposal of discontinued operations 11 (2,717) (2,126) 
Proceeds from sale of business 10 6,729 − 
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 12 875 9,228 
Restricted cash   482 (11,544) 
  (9,757) 147,101 
    
(Decrease) increase in cash position   (15,604) 24,868 
Foreign exchange gain (loss) on cash and cash equivalents  (1,367) 5,529 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year   61,888 31,491 
    
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year   44,917 61,888 
Supplemental cash flow information 25   

 (See accompanying notes) 
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

For the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 
(Canadian dollars, amounts in thousands except share and per share data) 
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1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS  
 
Fortress Paper Ltd. (the "Company" or “Fortress”) was incorporated on May 30, 2006 under the laws of the Province 
of British Columbia. The address of the Company’s registered office is 157 Chadwick Court – 2nd floor, North 
Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada V7M 3K2. Fortress operates internationally in two distinct business 
segments: dissolving pulp and security paper products. The Company operates its dissolving pulp business at the 
Fortress Specialty Cellulose mill located in Canada.  As of September of 2013, the Fortress Specialty Cellulose mill 
also operates in the renewable energy sector with the completion of a cogeneration facility.  Up until April 30, 2013, 
the Company operated its specialty papers business at the Dresden mill located in Germany, where it was a producer 
of specialty non-woven wallpaper base products (Note 11).  The Company operates its security paper products 
business at the Landqart mill located in Switzerland, where it produces banknote, passport, visa and other brand 
protection and security papers, and at the Fortress Optical Facility located in Canada, where up until September 16, 
2014, it manufactured optically variable thin film material (Note 10). 
 
 

2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION  

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“IFRS”) applicable to the preparation of financial statements as issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board (“IASB”) and interpretations of the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee 
(“IFRIC”). The Company has consistently applied the same accounting policies throughout all years presented 
except for the new accounting standards issued in the current year (Note 4).  The Board of Directors approved these 
statements on March 6, 2015.  

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting 
estimates.  It also requires management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the Company’s 
accounting policies.  The areas involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions 
and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed in Note 3.  The consolidated 
financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis with the exception of compound financial 
instruments, marketable securities, employee future benefits, and provisions which are discussed in Note 3. 
 
 

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Basis of presentation 

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and, from their respective dates of 
acquisition of control or formation, its wholly owned subsidiaries. 

Foreign currency translation 

(i) Functional and presentation currency 

Items included in the financial statements of each consolidated entity are measured using the currency of the primary 
economic environment in which the entity operates (the “functional currency”). The consolidated financial 
statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is the Company’s presentation currency. 

The financial statements of entities that have a functional currency other than Canadian dollars (“foreign 
operations”) are translated into Canadian dollars as follows: assets and liabilities – at the closing rate at the date of 
the statement of financial position, and income and expenses – using actual rates in place at the time of the 
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transaction or an average rate if it is considered a reasonable approximation for the actual rate.  All resulting 
exchange differences are recognized in other comprehensive income as cumulative translation adjustments.  
 
When the Company disposes of its entire interest in a foreign operation, or loses control, joint control, or significant 
influence over a foreign operation, the foreign currency gains or losses accumulated in other comprehensive income 
related to the foreign operation are recognized in profit or loss. If the Company disposes of part of an interest in a 
foreign operation which remains a subsidiary, a proportionate amount of foreign currency gains or losses 
accumulated in other comprehensive income related to the subsidiary are reallocated between controlling and non-
controlling interests. 
 
(ii) Transactions and balances 

 
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the 
dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of foreign currency 
transactions and from the translation at year end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 
currencies other than an operation’s functional currency are recognized in the statement of operations. 
 
Consolidation 

 
Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the Company has control.  The Company 
controls an entity when the Company is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the 
entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity.  The following are the principal 
operating subsidiaries of the Company: 
  

 Note Jurisdiction Functional Currency 
    

Fortress Specialty Cellulose Inc.  Canada Canadian dollar 
Landqart Ag  Switzerland Swiss franc (“CHF”) 
Dresden Papier 11 Germany euro (“EUR”) 
Fortress Optical Features Ltd. 10 Canada Canadian dollar 

 
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Company. They are de- 
consolidated from the date that control ceases. 

The Company applies the acquisition method to account for business combinations. The consideration transferred 
for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former 
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Company. The consideration transferred includes the 
fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement. Identifiable assets acquired 
and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values 
at the acquisition date. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred. 

Intercompany transactions, balances, income and expenses on transactions between companies are eliminated. 
Profits and losses resulting from intercompany transactions that are recognised in assets are also eliminated. 
Accounting policies of subsidiaries are consistent with the policies adopted by the Company.   

Cash and cash equivalents 

The Company considers cash, cash in banks, and deposits with financial institutions with original maturities of three 
months or less and that can be liquidated without prior notice or penalty, to be cash or cash equivalents. 
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Financial instruments 

Financial assets and liabilities are recognized when the Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of 
the instrument. Financial assets are derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the assets have 
expired or have been transferred and the Company has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of 
ownership.   
 
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial position when 
there is an immediate legally enforceable right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle 
on a net basis, or realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 
 
At initial recognition, the Company classifies its financial instruments in the following categories depending on the 
purpose for which the instruments were acquired: 
 
(i) Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss: A financial asset or liability is classified in 

this category if acquired principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the short term. Derivatives 
are also included in this category unless they are designated as hedges. The Company holds marketable 
securities that are classified in this category. 
 
Financial instruments in this category are recognized initially and subsequently at fair value. Transaction 
costs are expensed in the statement of operations. Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are 
presented in the statement of operations within other gains and losses in the year in which they arise. 
Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are classified as current except for the 
portion expected to be realized or paid beyond 12 months of the statement of financial position date, which 
is classified as non-current. 

 
(ii) Available-for-sale investments: Available-for-sale investments are non-derivatives that are either designated 

in this category or not classified in any of the other categories. The Company does not hold any instruments 
in this category. 
 
Available-for-sale investments are recognized initially at fair value plus transaction costs and are 
subsequently carried at fair value. Gains or losses arising from changes in fair value are recognized in other 
comprehensive income. Available-for-sale investments are classified as non-current, unless the investment 
matures within 12 months, or management expects to dispose of them within 12 months. 
 
Interest on available-for-sale investments, calculated using the effective interest method, is recognized in the 
statement of operations as part of finance income. Dividends on available-for-sale equity instruments are 
recognized in the statement of operations as part of other gains and losses when the Company’s right to 
receive payment is established. When an available-for-sale investment is sold or impaired, the accumulated 
gains or losses are moved from accumulated other comprehensive income to the statement of operations and 
included in other gains and losses. 
 

(iii) Loans and receivables: Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or 
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. The Company’s loans and receivables 
comprise trade accounts receivable, other accounts receivable, other long-term receivable, cash and cash 
equivalents, restricted cash and with the exception of long-term receivable, are included in current assets 
due to their short-term nature. Loans and receivables are initially recognized at the amount expected to be 
received less, when material, a discount to reduce the loans and receivables to fair value. Subsequently, 
loans and receivables are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method less a provision 
for impairment. 
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(iv) Financial liabilities at amortized cost: Financial liabilities at amortized cost include accounts payable and 
accrued liabilities as well as long-term debt. Accounts payable and accrued liabilities are initially 
recognized at the amount required to be paid less, when material, a discount to reduce the payables to fair 
value. Subsequently, trade payables are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method.  
Long-term debt is recognized initially at fair value, net of any transaction costs incurred, and 
subsequently at amortized cost using the effective interest method. 
 
Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognized as transaction costs of the loan to the 
extent that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is 
deferred until the draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that it is probable that some or all 
of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalized as a prepayment for liquidity services and 
amortized over the term of the facility to which it relates. 
 
Financial liabilities are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within 12 months. Otherwise, 
they are presented as non-current liabilities. 
 

Government assistance 
 
Government assistance related to the acquisition of property, plant and equipment is recorded as a reduction of the 
cost of the asset to which it relates, with any amortization calculated on the net amount. Government assistance 
related to non-capital projects is recorded as a reduction of the related expenses. 

Inventories 

Inventories are valued at the lower of average cost and net realizable value.  The cost of finished goods and work-in-
progress comprises raw materials, direct labour, other direct costs and related production overheads including 
applicable amortization on property, plant and equipment.  Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the 
ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of completion and selling expenses.  Supplies inventory is valued at 
the lower of average cost and replacement cost.   

Property, plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated amortization and impairment charges. 

No amortization is charged on major improvements or expansions until the asset is ready for its intended use. 
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognized as a separate asset, as appropriate, only 
when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Company.  The carrying 
amount of the replaced part is derecognized.  Maintenance, repairs and minor replacements are expensed as incurred.  
The carrying amount of a replaced asset is derecognized when it is replaced. 

The cost of major overhaul, repairs and replacement which increase the useful lives of existing property plant and 
equipment are capitalized and amortized over the period of benefit. 

Property, plant and equipment are principally amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives 
as follows: 

 
Buildings 10-50 years 
Manufacturing equipment and machinery 5-20 years 
Fixtures and other equipment 3-10 years 
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The Company allocates the amount initially recognized in respect of an item of property, plant and equipment to its 
significant components and amortizes each such part separately.  Residual values, methods of amortization and 
useful lives are reviewed at year end and adjusted if appropriate.   
 
Impairment of long-lived assets 
 
The Company reviews property, plant, and equipment for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.  For the purpose of measuring recoverable amounts, assets 
are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash generating units).  The 
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to dispose and value in use (being the present 
value of the expected future cash flows of the relevant asset or cash generating unit).  An impairment loss is 
recognized in the statement of operations for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its 
recoverable amount and is reviewed for possible reversal at each reporting date. 
 
Borrowing costs 
 
Borrowing costs attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets are added to the cost 
of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use.  All other borrowing costs 
are recognized as interest expense in the statement of operations in the year in which they are incurred. 
 
Compound financial instruments 
 
Compound financial instruments issued by the Company comprise convertible notes that can be converted to share 
capital at the option of the holder, and the number of shares to be issued does not vary with changes in their fair 
value. 
 
The liability component of a compound financial instrument is recognized initially at the fair value of a similar 
liability that does not have an equity conversion option. The equity component is recognized initially at the 
difference between the fair value of the compound financial instrument as a whole and the fair value of the liability 
component. Any directly attributable transaction costs are allocated to the liability and equity components in 
proportion to their initial carrying amounts. 
 
Subsequent to initial recognition, the liability component of a compound financial instrument is measured at 
amortized cost using the effective interest method. The equity component of a compound financial instrument is not 
re-measured subsequent to initial recognition except on conversion or expiry. 
 
Share capital 
 
Common shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new common shares or 
options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. 
 
Employee future benefits 
 
Employees of entities included in these consolidated financial statements have entitlements under Company pension 
plans which are either defined contribution or defined benefit pension plans.  These plans take different forms 
depending on the legal regime of each country.   

For the Company’s defined contribution pension plan, contributions are recognized as employee benefit expense 
when they are due. 

For the Company’s defined benefit pension plan the following policies have been adopted: 
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• The measurement date used for accounting purposes is December 31; 

• The cost of pensions earned by employees is actuarially determined using the projected unit credit method 
pro-rated on service and management's estimate of expected plan investment performance, salary escalation 
and retirement ages of employees; 

• The discount rate applied in arriving at the present value of the pension liability represents yields on high 
quality corporate bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid, and that 
have terms to maturity approximating the terms of the pension liability; 

• For the purpose of calculating the expected return on plan assets, those assets are valued at fair value; 

• The related net pension liability recognized in the statement of financial position is the fair value of the plan 
assets less the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the statement of financial position date; and 

• Actuarial gains and losses are recognized during the year in which they occur, in other comprehensive 
income (loss) and retained earnings, without recycling to the statement of operations in subsequent years. 

 
Provisions 
 
Provisions for cleanup of landfill sites and legal claims, where applicable, are recognized as liabilities when the 
Company has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is more likely than not that an 
outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and the amount can be reliably estimated.  Provisions 
are measured at management’s best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the end of the 
reporting year, and are discounted to present value where the effect is material. 

Income taxes 

Income taxes comprise current and deferred taxes.  Income tax is recognized in the statement of operations except to 
the extent that it relates to items recognized directly in other comprehensive income (loss) or equity, in which case 
the income tax is recognized directly in other comprehensive income (loss) or equity, respectively.   

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted, or substantively 
enacted, at the end of the reporting year in the countries where the Company and its subsidiaries operate and 
generate taxable income.  The Company periodically evaluates the position taken and establishes provisions where 
appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.   

Deferred tax is recognized, using the liability method, in respect of temporary differences arising between the tax 
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements.  Deferred income 
tax is determined on a non-discounted basis using tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted 
at the statement of financial position date and are expected to apply when the deferred tax asset or liability is settled.  
Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable that the assets can be recovered.   

Deferred income tax is provided for taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries except 
where the Company is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary 
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.  Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary 
differences associated with such investments and interests are only recognized to the extent that it is probable that 
there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilize the benefits of the temporary differences and they are 
expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.  

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are presented as non-current and are offset when there is a legally 
enforceable right to offset tax assets against tax liabilities and when the deferred income tax assets and liabilities 
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relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the taxable entity or different taxable entities 
where there is an intention to settle the balances on a net basis.     

Earnings (loss) per share 

Basic earnings (loss) per share are computed using the weighted average number of common shares outstanding 
during the year. Diluted earnings per share amounts are calculated giving effect to the potential dilution that would 
occur if securities or other contracts to issue common shares were exercised or converted to common shares using 
the treasury stock method.  The treasury stock method assumes that proceeds received from the exercise of stock 
options and warrants are used to repurchase common shares at the prevailing market rate.  Diluted earnings per share 
for convertible debt, using the if converted method, assumes the debt has been converted at the beginning of the 
period or, if later, the date of the issue of the convertible debt.   

Stock-based compensation 

The Company grants stock options and other share-based awards to certain employees. Each tranche in an award is 
considered a separate award with its own vesting year and grant date fair value.  The fair value of each tranche is 
measured at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model.  The value of stock options granted to 
directors and officers is recorded as stock-based compensation and credited to contributed surplus over the relevant 
vesting period.  Any consideration received on the exercise of stock options is credited to share capital and the 
appropriate original fair value is reallocated from contributed surplus to share capital.     

Performance options and share awards based on certain conditions are recognized when it is considered likely that 
the performance condition will be achieved. 

Revenue and related cost recognition 

The Company recognizes revenue from product sales when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, the sales 
price is fixed or can be measured reliably, title of ownership and risk of loss have passed to the customer and 
collectability is reasonably assured. Sales are reported net of discounts and allowances. Amounts charged to 
customers for shipping and handling are recognized as revenue.  Shipping and handling costs incurred by the 
Company are included in cost of products sold.  The Company does not have any multiple element revenue 
arrangements.   

The Company reports the sale of energy as revenue upon generation at its cogeneration facility. 

Development costs 

Expenditure incurred in the development of products or enhancements to existing product ranges is capitalized as an 
intangible asset only when the future economic benefits expected to arise are deemed probable and the costs can be 
reliably measured. Development costs not meeting these criteria are expensed in the statement of operations as 
incurred. Capitalized development costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful economic 
lives once the product or enhancement is available for use. Product research costs are written off as incurred. 

Leases 

The Company leases certain property, plant and equipment.  Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and 
rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating 
leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor) are charged to the statement of operations on a straight-line 
basis over the year of the lease. 



FORTRESS PAPER LTD. 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

For the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 
(Canadian dollars, amounts in thousands except share and per share data) 

 
 

13 
 

Leases of property, plant and equipment where the Company has substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership 
are classified as finance leases. Finance leases are capitalized at the lease’s commencement at the lower of the fair 
value of the leased property and the present value of the minimum lease payments. 
 
Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance charges. The corresponding rental obligations, net 
of finance charges, are included in provisions and other long term liabilities. The interest element of the finance cost 
is charged to the statement of operations over the lease year so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on 
the remaining balance of the liability for each year. The property, plant and equipment acquired under finance leases 
are amortized over the shorter of the useful life of the asset and the lease term. 

Estimates 

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires management to make 
judgments, estimates and assumptions that effect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of 
assets, liabilities, income and expenses.  Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

The Company regularly reviews its estimates and assumptions; however, it is possible that circumstances may arise 
which cause actual results to differ from management estimates, and these differences could be material.  Revisions 
to accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which estimates are reviewed and in any future periods 
affected. 

Information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgments in applying accounting policies 
that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements is included 
in the applicable notes: 

• Note 3, 12 – Property, plant and equipment;  
• Note 9 – Financial instruments; 
• Note 16 – Provisions and other long term liabilities;  
• Note 15 (a) – Debt extinguishment; and 
• Note 17 – Employee future benefits. 

Segmented reporting 
 
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to management and the 
Board of Directors. The Company’s operations are managed and reported internally on a divisional basis that reflects 
the different characteristics of each business. These divisions have been disclosed as reportable segments because 
they are the components that management and the Board monitors regularly in making decisions about operating 
matters such as allocating resources to businesses and assessing performance.  
 

 
4. NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS  
 

Changes in accounting policies 
 
IFRIC 21 – Levies 

The Company has adopted IFRIC 21, Levies, which provides guidance on when an obligating event occurs that 
gives rise to a liability to pay a government levy that is not income tax. The adoption did not have a material impact 
on the Company’s financial statements.  
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Accounting standards issued and not applied  
 

IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments- Classification and Measurement 

The final version of IFRS 9 was issued in July 2014 and includes (i) a third measurement category for financial 
assets, and (ii) a single forward looking expected loss impairment model. IFRS 9 is effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2018.  

Amendments to IFRS 7 - Financial Instruments: Disclosures  

IFRS 7 is amended to require additional disclosures on transition from IAS 39 to IFRS 9. The Amendment of IFRS 7 
is effective on adoption of IFRS 9.  

IFRS 15 - Revenue from Contracts with Customers  

This new standard on revenue recognition supersedes IAS 18 - Revenue, IAS 11 - Construction Contracts, and 
related interpretations. IFRS 15 is effective for the first interim period beginning on or after January 1, 2017. 
 
Amendments to IAS 1 - Presentation of Financial Statements  

IAS 1 is amended to clarify guidance on materiality and aggregation, the presentation of subtotals, the structure of 
financial statements and the disclosure of accounting policies.   The amendment of IAS 1 is effective for years 
beginning on or after January 1, 2016.  

The Company is currently evaluating the impact from the adoption of these standards. 

 
5. RESTRICTED CASH 

 
As at December 31, 2014, restricted cash includes $13,482 (2013: $14,508) to secure performance bonds for security 
contracts (Note 23).   
 
 

6. TRADE ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 
 

 

Note 

December 31, 
2014 

$ 

December 31, 
2013 

$ 
    

Trade accounts receivable  18,625 12,639 
Less: provision for impairment of trade receivable 25 (201) (193) 
    
Trade accounts receivable  18,424 12,446 
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7. OTHER ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 
 

 

 

December 31, 
2014 

$ 

 December 31, 
2013 

$ 
    

Receivable from lender  30 389 
Investment and other tax credits   319 317 
Value added tax   3,126 3,473 
Income tax  799 799 
Other  1,714 3,773 

    
  5,988 8,751 

 

8. INVENTORIES 
 

 December 31, 
2014 

$ 

 December 31, 
2013 

$ 
   

Raw materials and supplies 25,661 26,784 
Work in progress  1,709 1,167 
Finished goods  16,639 34,439 
   
 44,009 62,390 
   

 

The cost of raw materials, purchased materials and change in inventory recognized as expenses included in cost of 
products sold amounted to $146,925 (2013: $147,002). 

The inventory write-down to record finished goods inventory at the lower of cost and net realizable value at 
December 31, 2014 was $1,485 (2013: $4,897). 

The carrying amount of inventories pledged as security amounted to $23,399 (2013: $23,400). 
   
 
9. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

 
The Company’s cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, trade accounts receivable, other accounts receivable, 
other long-term receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, and long term debt are measured at amortized 
cost subsequent to initial measurement.  Marketable securities are measured at fair value through profit and loss in 
accordance with IFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement, which requires the classification of financial instruments within 
a hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to fair value measurement. 
 
The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are:  
 
Level 1 – Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 
Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly;  
Level 3 – Inputs that are unobservable for the asset or liability. 
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The following table summarizes the Company’s financial instruments measured at fair value at December 31, 2014 
and December 31, 2013, and shows the level within the fair value hierarchy in which they have been classified:  
 

 Fair Value 
Hierarchy Level 

 

Note 

December 31, 
2014 

$ 

December 31, 
2013 

$ 
Marketable Securities      
Marketable securities – held for trading Level 1  10 2,279 − 
Marketable securities – held in escrow Level 3  10 931 − 

      
Total marketable securities    3,210 − 

 
The marketable securities held in escrow have been accounted for as contingent consideration (Note 10) and 
measured at fair value at each reporting period.  The fair value has been calculated using quoted prices in an active 
market adjusted for a liquidity discount of $970 using a Black Scholes pricing model, and further adjusted for the 
probabilities of achieving each of the milestones.  Assumptions used in the pricing model vary depending on 
management’s best estimate of the timing and likelihood of achieving four differing business milestones over a five 
year period.  Management has assessed a 5%-50% likelihood of achieving the milestones. 

 
The following table summarizes the (loss) on marketable securities for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 
2013:  
 

 

 

  December 31, 
2014 

$ 

 December 31, 
2013 

$ 
Marketable Securities      
Marketable securities – held for trading    (552) − 
Marketable securities – held in escrow    (261) − 
      
Total loss    (813) − 

 
 
 
10. DISPOSAL OF BUSINESS 
 

On September 16, 2014, the Company sold all of the shares of its wholly-owned subsidiary, Fortress Optical 
Features Ltd. (“FOF”), a component of the security paper products segment. The transaction excluded cash and 
certain accounts receivable of FOF.  The sale proceeds comprised $7,000 cash, a $3,000 secured note and 5,000,000 
shares of the acquirer, of which 2,000,000 of the shares are subject to a four month holding period and 3,000,000 of 
the shares have been held in escrow and will be released to the Company upon the achievement of four differing 
business milestones to be met by FOF over a five year period.   The secured note bears interest of 4% over a three 
year period.  The shares in escrow have been recorded as contingent consideration at fair value (Note 9).  All of the 
shares of the acquirer held by the Company at December 31, 2014, have been classified as held for trading and 
revalued at fair market value (Note 9). 

 
Based on the book values of the net assets disposed of, the related sales proceeds and an estimate of the value of the 
contingent consideration on the date of the sale, the gain on disposal of FOF is $9,142, as summarized below.  
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  September 16,  
2014 

$ 
    
Sale proceeds:    
Cash   7,000 
Secured note   3,000 
Shares of acquirer received   2,831 
Shares of acquirer held in escrow   1,192 
Working capital adjustment   64 
Less: directly attributable costs   (334) 

    
Total net proceeds   13,753 
    
Book value of net assets disposed of:    
Current assets   482 
Property, plant and equipment   4,472 
Current liabilities    (343) 

    
Net assets disposed of   4,611 
    
Gain on disposal   9,142 

 
 
11. DISPOSAL OF DISCONTINUED OPERATION 

On April 30, 2013, the Company sold all of the shares of its wholly owned subsidiary, Dresden Papier GmbH (the 
“Dresden mill”), which represented the entire specialty papers segment of the Company, for an aggregate purchase 
price of EUR 160,000 subject to working capital and other adjustments.  The transaction excluded cash and long-
term debt associated with the Dresden mill.  Prior to the sale, the long-term debt associated with Dresden was repaid 
by the Company and the factored accounts receivable of the Dresden mill were repurchased.  An early prepayment 
penalty of $1,166 was recorded on the retirement of the Dresden mill long term debt.  Based on the book values of 
the net assets disposed of, the related sales proceeds, and the effect of foreign exchange, the gain on disposal of 
Dresden mill is $154,265, as summarized below.  During the year ended December 31, 2014, the Company recorded 
an additional $863 against the gain on disposal relating to taxes owed on the sale.    

 

 

  April 30,  
2013 

$ 
    
Sale proceeds:    
Cash   212,240 
Less: purchase price adjustments    (1,649) 
Less: directly attributable costs    (2,416) 
    
Total net proceeds   208,175 
    
Net assets disposed of   51,090 
    
Profit on disposal before recycling of cumulative translation adjustment   157,085 
Cumulative translation adjustment   (2,820) 
    
Gain on disposal   154,265 
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The Dresden mill represents the entire wallpaper segment of the Company.  The results for the periods ended 
December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 have been reclassified in the statement of operations as discontinued 
operations.  The results of the discontinued operations are as follows: 

 
 

 

  December 31,    
2014 

$ 

 December 31,    
2013 

$ 
      

Income before income taxes and gain on disposal    − 11,661 
Income taxes    (863) (3,518) 
Gain on disposal    − 154,265 
      
Net income from discontinued operations    (863) 162,408 
      
Cash flows from operating activities    − 7,932 
Cash flows from financing activities    − (49,231) 
Cash flows from investing activities     (2,717) (4,231) 
      
Decrease in cash    (2,717) (45,530) 

 
 
12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
 

 2014 
 Land 

 
$ 

Building 
 
$ 

 Equipment 
 
$ 

Work in 
Progress 

$ 

Total 
 

$ 
At December 31, 2013      
Cost 17,171 158,260 294,679 3,125 473,235 
Accumulated amortization − (14,087)  (46,199)  − (60,286)  
Net book value 17,171 144,173 248,480 3,125 412,949 
      
Year ended December 31, 2014      
Additions − 55 6,794 6,917 13,766 
Disposals − − (34) − (34) 
Transfers − 35 8,247 (8,282) − 
Disposal of business (Note 10) − (3,634) (782) (55) (4,471) 
Amortization  − (8,800) (19,252) − (28,052) 
Exchange differences (361) (345) (1,155) (20) (1,881) 
Net book value 16,810 131,484 242,298 1,685 392,277 
      
At December 31, 2014      
Cost 16,810 153,746 306,653 1,685 478,894 
Accumulated amortization − (22,262) (64,355) − (86,617) 
      
Net book value 16,810 131,484 242,298 1,685 392,277 
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 2013 
 Land 

 
$ 

Building 
 
$ 

Equipment 
 
$ 

Work in 
Progress 

$ 

Total 
 

$ 
At December 31, 2012      
Cost 22,990 114,021 228,692 126,102 491,805 
Accumulated amortization − (9,580) (41,998) − (51,578) 
Net book value 22,990 104,441 186,694 126,102 440,227 
      
Year ended December 31, 2013      
Additions − (235) 4,557 48,248 52,570 
Disposals (2,933) (45) (935) − (3,913) 
Transfers − 44,889 97,306 (142,195) − 
Disposal of discontinued operation 

(Note 11) 
(4,377) (1,993) (21,741) (3,442) (31,553) 

Impairment of equipment − − (7,206) (25,701) (32,907) 
Amortization  − (4,457) (16,020) − (20,477) 
Exchange differences 1,491 1,573 5,825 113 9,002 
Net book value 17,171 144,173 248,480 3,125 412,949 
      
At December 31, 2013      
Cost 17,171 158,260 294,679 3,125 473,235 
Accumulated amortization − (14,087)  (46,199)  − (60,286)  
      
Net book value 17,171 144,173 248,480 3,125 412,949 

 
 
Borrowing costs and accretion capitalized to  property, plant and equipment during the year ended December 31, 
2014 was $nil (2013: $3,278).  Borrowing costs and accretion were capitalized at effective interest rates ranging 
from 4.1% to 5.6%.  
 
Property, plant and equipment pledged as security for loans and mortgages amounted to $314,545 (2013: $322,692). 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2014, the Company sold non-core assets for $875 (2013: $9,336).  The 
carrying amount of the assets sold was $nil (2013: $4,094) with a resulting gain of $875 (2013: $5,242). 

 
Impairment of property, plant and equipment 
 
In accordance with the Company’s accounting policy, each asset or cash generating unit is evaluated at each 
reporting date to determine whether there are any indicators of impairment.  If any such indication exists, a formal 
estimate of recoverable amount is performed and an impairment loss is recognized to the extent that the carrying 
amount exceeds the recoverable amount.  The recoverable amount has been determined by the Company as the value 
in use. 
 
The determination of value in use requires management to make estimates and assumptions about expected 
production and sales volumes, prices, operating costs, capital expenditures, and appropriate discount rates for future 
cash flows.  The estimate and assumptions are subject to risk and uncertainty, and as such there is the possibility that 
changes in circumstances will alter these projections, which may impact the recoverable amount of the assets.  In 
such circumstances, some or all of the carrying value of the assets may be further impaired or the impairment charge 
reduced with the impact recorded in the statement of income. 
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As at December 31, 2014, the Company’s market capitalization was lower than the carrying amount of its net assets.  
Management of the Company determined that this constituted an impairment indicator and completed separate 
impairment assessments of the Fortress Specialty Cellulose and Landqart mills. 
 
An impairment assessment model for the Fortress Specialty Cellulose mill included the following assumptions: 
 

• Operating costs based on historical costs incurred and estimated forecasts. 
• Production volumes based on full production at industry normal utilization rates. 
• Efficiencies and production increases from future planned capital projects were not included. 
• Dissolving pulp pricing based on externally available pricing forecasts.  
• Discount rates reflecting the risks involved. 
 

Key sensitivities for inputs in the impairment assessment model for the Fortress Specialty Cellulose mill are as 
follows: 

 
• For each 1% change in the price of dissolving pulp, the calculated fair value of the cash generating unit 

changes by approximately $16,000. 
• For each $0.01 change in the Canadian dollar when compared to the United States dollar, the calculated 

fair value of the cash generating unit changes by approximately $15,800.  
 

An impairment assessment model for the Landqart mill included the following assumptions: 
 
• Operating costs based on historical costs incurred and estimated forecasts. 
• Production volumes based on full production at industry normal utilization rates. 
• Efficiencies and production increases from future planned capital projects were not included. 
• Security product pricing based on historical results and estimated forecasts. 
• Discount rates reflecting the risks involved. 
 

 Management’s impairment evaluation did not result in the identification of an impairment loss at the Fortress 
Specialty Cellulose mill or the Landqart mill as at December 31, 2014.   
 
The Company is continuing to evaluate options with respect to the Fortress Global Cellulose mill located at Lebel-
sur-Quévillon, Québec.  During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company recognized an impairment loss of 
$32,907 resulting in a $nil net book value of equipment at the Fortress Global Cellulose mill. 
 
 

13. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES  
 

 

Note 

December 31, 
2014 

$ 

December 31, 
2013 

$ 
 Trade payables and accrued liabilities  23,524 20,196 
Accrued payroll and related liabilities  5,636 4,202 
Customer prepayments  12,758 6,791 
Landfill and environmental remediation  16 2,464 964 
Tax liability relating to discontinued operations  – 1,891 

    
  44,382 34,044 
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14. INCOME TAXES 
 
The analysis of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities is as follows: 

 December 31, 
2014 

$ 

 December 31, 
2013 

$ 
 Deferred tax assets:   
Deferred tax asset to be recovered after more than 12 months 61,216 48,603 
Deferred tax asset to be recovered within 12 months – − 
 61,216 48,603 
   
Deferred tax liabilities:   
Deferred tax liability to be reversed after more than 12 months 58,083 49,699 
Deferred tax liability to be reversed within 12 months 4,591 3,638 

 62,674 53,337 
   

Deferred net tax liability 1,458 4,734 
   

 
The movement on the deferred income tax account is as follows: 

 December 31, 
2014 

$ 

December 31, 
2013 

$ 
   

Opening net deferred tax liability 4,734 2,154 
Charged to continuing operations (4,101) 3,079 
Charged to discontinued operations – (373) 
Charged to comprehensive income 839 (521) 
Charged to property, plant and equipment – (186) 
Charged to equity – 266 
Exchange differences (14) 315 
   
Deferred net tax liability  1,458 4,734 

 
The movement in deferred income tax assets and liabilities during the year, without taking into consideration the 
offsetting of balances within the same tax jurisdiction, is as follows: 
 

Deferred Tax Liabilities 

 Property, Plant 
and 

Equipment 
$ 

Long-term 
Debt 

 
$ 

Other 
 
 

$ 

Total 
 
 

$ 
      
As at December 31, 2012  30,394 6,648 490 37,532 
Charged to continuing operations  12,539 (910) 4,132 15,761 
Charged to discontinued operations  (475) − − (475) 
Charged to equity  − 266 − 266 
Exchange differences  242 − 11 253 
      
As at December 31, 2013  42,700 6,004 4,633 53,337 
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Deferred Tax Liabilities 

 Property, Plant 
and 

Equipment 
$ 

Long-term 
Debt 

 
$ 

Other 
 
 

$ 

Total 
 
 

$ 
      
As at December 31, 2013  42,700 6,004 4,633 53,337 
Charged to continuing operations  12,248 (2,459) (424) 9,365 
Exchange differences  (28) – – (28) 

      
As at December 31, 2014  54,920 3,545 4,209 62,674 

      
 
 

Deferred Tax Assets  

Tax Credits 
 
 
$ 

Tax Loss 
Carry-

forwards 
$ 

Employee 
Future Benefits 

 
$ 

Other 
 
 

$ 

Total 
 
 

$ 
      
As at December 31, 2012 6,012 26,055 295 3,016 35,378 
Charged to continuing operations 372 11,345 − 965 12,682 
Charged to discontinued operations − − − (102) (102) 
Charged to comprehensive income − − 521 − 521 
Charged to property, plant and 

equipment 186 − − − 186 
Exchange differences − − (24) (38) (62) 
      
As at December 31, 2013 6,570 37,400 792 3,841 48,603 
      
As at December 31, 2013 6,570 37,400 792 3,841 48,603 
Charged to continuing operations (4,429) 17,464 66 365 13,466 
Charged to comprehensive income – – (839) – (839) 
Exchange differences – – (14) – (14) 

      
As at December 31, 2014 2,141 54,864 5 4,206 61,216 

 
 

Deferred income tax assets are recognized for tax loss carry-forwards and other tax credits to the extent that the 
realization of the related tax benefit through future taxable profits is probable.  The Company did not recognize 
deferred tax assets of $48,119 in 2014 (2013: 36,670).  Tax loss carry-forwards consist of approximately $360,251, 
which expire beginning in 2015 through 2034. 

The components of income tax (recovery) expense for continuing operations are as follows: 
 Year Ended 

December 31, 
2014 

$ 

Year Ended 
December 31, 

2013 
$ 

   
Current  184 (1,493) 
Deferred (4,101) 3,079  

   
 (3,917) 1,586 
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The reconciliation of income taxes calculated at the statutory rate of 26% to the actual income tax provision is 
as follows: 
 

 Year Ended 
December 31, 

2014 
$ 

Year Ended 
December 31, 

2013 
$ 

   
Net loss from continuing operations before income taxes  (66,559) (106,237) 
Income tax recovery at statutory rates  (17,305) (27,356) 
Stock-based compensation and other non-deductible expenses  71 558 
Rate differentials between foreign jurisdictions, capital gains and future tax rates 1,337 1,321 
Gain on disposal of business (2,556)  
Investment and other tax credits – 168 
Undistributed earnings of subsidiary 31 3,750 
Use of previously unrecognized tax assets – (1,407) 
Change in deferred tax assets not recognized 14,505 24,552 

   
Income tax (recovery) expense  (3,917) 1,586 

 

15. LONG-TERM DEBT 
 

 

Note 

December 31, 
2014 

$ 

December 31, 
2013 

$ 
    

Credit facilities with lenders    
CHF 4,561 (2013: CHF 5,310), maturing 2020, unsecured   4,836 5,549 
$109,180, interest up to 5.5%, maturing 2020, secured by the assets of the 

Fortress Specialty Cellulose mill  15(a) − 105,107 
$106,469, interest at 5.0%, maturing 2026, secured by the assets of the 

Fortress Specialty Cellulose mill 15(a) 106,910 − 
Undrawn credit facility 15(b) − − 

    
Unsecured convertible debentures    

$40,250 principal, interest at 6.5%, maturing 2016   37,181 35,872 
$25,000 principal, interest at 7%, maturing 2017    23,492 22,997 
$69,000 principal, interest at 7%, maturing 2019    59,928 58,605 

    
  232,347 228,130 

Less: Current portion   (1,192) (14,572) 
    
Long-term debt  231,155 213,558 
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 December 31, 
2014 

$ 

December 31, 
2013 

$ 
   

Principal value of debt 246,044 247,061 
Unamortized borrowing costs and amounts allocated to equity for convertible 
debentures (13,697) (18,931) 

   
Net amount recorded in liabilities 232,347 228,130 
 
Principal repayments as at December 31, 2014 are required as follows: 

   $ 
    

2015    1,192 
2016    42,003 
2017   37,690 
2018   10,845 
2019   79,786 
Thereafter    74,528 

    
   246,044 

 
Borrowings under the above agreements require maintenance of subsidiary specific minimum working capital ratios, 
maximum long-term debt to adjusted net worth ratios, and certain non-financial covenants. The Company has been 
in compliance with all covenants for all periods presented. 
 
At December 30, 2014, the fair value of the long-term debt, measured at its amortized cost of $232,347 was 
$146,560. The fair value was determined based on prevailing market rates for long-term debt with similar 
characteristics and risk profile.   

 
(a) On December 3, 2014, the Fortress Specialty Cellulose mill entered into an amendment agreement with their lender 

in respect of its $102,400 project financing loan.  Under the amended agreement, no principal repayments will be 
made or interest accrued or paid on the balance of the loan until December 31, 2016. If the mill reaches certain free 
cash flow targets, payments of up to $14,250 may be made to the lender beginning in 2021.  The maturity date of the 
loan was extended from April 30, 2020 to December 31, 2026 with equal quarterly payments beginning in 2017.  In 
conjunction with the amendment, the Company issued 1,000,000 warrants to the lender (Note 18).  The Company is 
required to make minimum capital expenditures of $25,000 over the three year period ending December 31, 2017.  
The Company chose to treat the amendment as a debt extinguishment, and, as a result, the Company recorded a debt 
extinguishment gain of $2,577. 

 
(b) A credit agreement for a facility up to $132,400, granted to Fortress Global Cellulose to support the conversion to a 

dissolving pulp mill and secured by the assets of Fortress Global Cellulose, expired December 31, 2014.  At 
December 31, 2014, $nil has been drawn on this facility.  During the year ended December 31, 2014, the Company 
and the lender agreed to cancel 715,000 warrants relating to the issuance of the facility.  As a result of the facility no 
longer being available to be drawn upon, an expense of $6,341 was recorded during the year for borrowing costs that 
were previously deferred as prepaid expenses. 
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16. PROVISIONS AND OTHER LONG-TERM LIABILITIES 

 
 December 31, 

2014 
$ 

December 31, 
2013 

$ 
Provisions   

Landfills 464 464 
Environmental remediation 173 157 

 637 621 
Long term liabilities   

Legal provisions 2,933 2,457 
Environmental remediation 6,217 5,807 

 9,788 8,885 
Less: current portion included in accounts payable (2,464) (964) 
   
Total provisions and other long-term liabilities 7,325 7,921 

  

 Landfills 

The Company has costs associated with containment and ongoing maintenance relating to landfill sites in Canada. 
These costs are measured at fair value, which approximates the cost a third party would incur in performing the tasks 
associated with the landfill sites. These obligations represent estimated undiscounted future payments of $464 to 
remediate the landfills at the end of their useful lives. These payments are expected to occur within the next 12 
months and have been recorded in accounts payable.      

The following table reflects changes in the provision for the landfill related provisions: 
 December 31, 

2014 
$ 

December 31, 
2013 

$ 
   
Opening balance 464 889 
Change in estimated costs of capping existing landfills − (200) 
Landfill maintenance payments − (225) 
Balance at end of year 464 464 
Less: current portion included in accounts payable (464) (464) 

   
Long-term landfill related provisions − − 

 
Environmental Remediation 
 
On June 20, 2012, the Company purchased the assets of a mill in Lebel-sur-Quévillon, Québec.  As part of the 
purchase, the Company entered into an environmental Trust Agreement (the “Trust”) to be used for environmental 
remediation for potential problems that existed at the date of purchase.  The Company does not have access to, and 
cannot control, the funds in the Trust.  The Company must fund the $6,500 remaining obligation over the next 3 
years in the intervals set out below.  The Company must also fund another $2,500 in the event that the mill is 
dismantled in the future.  The liability for the Company is for existing environmental liabilities at the date of 
purchase and has been limited at the amounts set out above.  Any further environmental remediation costs are to be 
paid by the previous owners of the mill and the provincial government.  The discount rates used for the valuation of 
the long-term liability range from 6.8% to 8.0% depending on the timing of the expected payment.  The discount 
rate used for the valuation of the $2.5 million provision is 9.8%. 
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 Environmental 

Remediation 
Liability 

$ 

Provision 
 
 

$ 
Balance, December 31, 2012 5,885 143 
Accretion 422 14 
Payment (500) − 
Balance, December 31, 2013 5,807 157 
Accretion 410 16 
   
Balance, December 31, 2014 6,217 173 

  
 The timing of potential Trust payments are as follows: 

   $ 
   

2015  2,000 
2016  1,500 
2017  3,500 
2018  − 
2019  − 
Thereafter  2,500 

   
Total potential Trust payments  9,500 

 
 
17. EMPLOYEE FUTURE BENEFITS 

The Company maintains defined contribution pension plans in Canada. The total cost recognized in 2014 for the 
Company’s contribution to the plans was $1,209 (2013: $1,316).  

The Company maintains a defined benefit pension plan in Switzerland providing pension benefits based on either 
length of service or earnings.  The Company measures its accrued benefit obligations and fair value of plan assets for 
accounting purposes as at December 31 of each year.  The most recent actuarial valuation for the plan was 
December 31, 2014. 

The status of the Company's defined benefit pension plan is as follows: 
 Year Ended 

December 31, 
2014 

$ 

Year Ended 
December 31, 

2013 
$ 

           Reconciliation of amount recognized in the statement of financial position   
Fair value of plan assets 80,398 75,354 
Present value of defined benefit obligation  89,383 80,091 
   
Employee future benefits  (8,985) (4,737) 
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 Year Ended 
December 31, 

2014 
$ 

Year Ended 
December 31, 

2013 
$ 

Components of defined benefit expense recognized in statement of operations    
Current service cost  2,159 1,796 
Past service cost (300) (559) 
Interest expense on defined benefit obligation 1,803 1,459 
Interest income on plan assets (1,692)    (1,416) 
Administration costs 40 34 
   
Net expense recognized in net income 2,010 1,314 

 
 Year Ended 

December 31, 
2014 

$ 

Year Ended 
December 31, 

2013 
$ 

Components of defined benefit recognized in other comprehensive income   
Return on plan assets excluding interest income 3,876 900 
Actuarial (loss) gain on benefit obligation from change in financial assumptions   (10,728) 928 
Actuarial gain (loss) on benefit obligation from experience adjustments 2,857 (4,953) 
   
Loss recognized in other comprehensive income before taxes (3,995) (3,125) 

 
 
 Year Ended 

December 31, 
2014 

$ 

Year Ended 
December 31, 

2013 
$ 

Reconciliation of defined benefit obligation   
Beginning of year 80,091 67,382 
Service cost  2,159 1,796 
Interest expense on defined benefit obligation  1,803 1,459 
Benefit payments  (1,820) (1,960) 
Contributions by plan participants  1,625 1,292 
Past service costs (300) (559) 
Administration costs 40 34 
Actuarial loss  7,871 4,025 
Foreign exchange  (2,086) 6,622 
   
End of year  89,383 80,091 
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 Year Ended 
December 31, 

2014 
$ 

Year Ended 
December 31, 

2013 
$ 

Plan assets    
Fair value, beginning of year 75,354 65,609 
Interest income on plan assets  1,692 1,416 
Employer contributions  1,622 1,292 
Employee contributions  1,625 1,292 
Return on plan assets excluding interest income 3,876 900 
Benefit payments  (1,820) (1,960) 
Foreign exchange  (1,951) 6,805 

   
End of year  80,398 75,354 

 
 
 December 31, 

2014 
December 31, 

2013 
Significant actuarial assumptions are as follows % % 
Discount rate to determine benefit obligations at end of year 1.2 2.2 
Rate of increase in future compensation  1.5 1.5 
   
Plan assets at fair value at the end of the year % % 
Liquid assets  2.3 3.2 
Bonds  50.1 49.3 
Equity  28.9 28.1 
Real estate  18.4 19.4 
Other 0.3 0.0 

 100.0 100.0 
 

The sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation to changes in assumptions is set out below. 
 

  Ending 
Obligation 

December 31, 
2014 

$ 
Sensitivity for the ending defined benefit obligation   
Discount rate 1.2% - 0.25%  93,054 
Discount rate 1.2% + 0.25%  85,955 
Salary decrease 1.5% - 0.25%  89,077 
Salary increase 1.5% + 0.25%  89,691 
Life expectancy - 1 year  89,693 
Life expectancy + 1 year  92,016 
   
 
The defined benefit plan is funded through a legally separate trustee administered pension fund.  The board of 
trustees is responsible for the investment of the assets and risk management.  The cash funding of the plan is 
designed to ensure that present and future contributions are sufficient to meet future liabilities.  The pension fund is 
able to adapt the contributions and benefits at any time.  In case of underfunding, this may involve special payments 
from the employer. 
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Approximately $2,772 is expected to be contributed by the Company to all pension plans for the year ended 
December 31, 2015.  

 
 
18. SHARE CAPITAL 

Authorized 

Unlimited number of common shares without par value 
 Unlimited number of preferred shares with par value $1,000 

Issued and fully paid — common shares 

 
 

Note 
Number of 

Shares 
Share Capital 

$ 

Balance, December 31, 2012   14,495,075 178,052 
Restricted share units vested  19 66,570 1,619 
Options exercised  19 24,448 369 
    
Balance, December 31, 2013  14,586,093 180,040 
Restricted share units vested  52,483 891 
Deferred share units vested  16,669 152 
    
Balance, December 31, 2014  14,655,245         181,083 

Warrants 
 
On December 3, 2014, the Company issued 1,000,000 share purchase warrants to a lender in connection with the 
signing of the loan amendment agreement (Note 15 (a)).  The warrants have an exercise price of $5.00 and are 
exercisable up to December 3, 2019, when they expire.  The warrants were valued at $0.76 per warrant at the grant 
date using the Black Scholes pricing model.  The Black Scholes pricing model requires the input of highly 
subjective assumptions including the expected share price volatility. Changes in the assumptions can materially 
affect the fair value estimate, and, therefore, changes to the existing models may provide a materially different 
measure of the fair value of the Company’s warrants. Assumptions used in the pricing model are as follows: 
 
 
  2014 

Risk-free interest rate  1.5% 
Expected life of warrants  5 years 
Annualized share price volatility  62.28% 
Dividend rate  Nil 

 
On June 20, 2012, the Company issued 715,000 warrants to a lender.  The warrants had an exercise price of $21.52 
and were exercisable from December 31, 2014 to December 31, 2017, when they expire.  The warrants were valued 
at $8.62 per warrant at the grant date using the Black Scholes pricing model.  The warrants were cancelled upon 
signing of the loan amendment agreement (Note 15(a)). 
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19. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION 
 
During 2006, the Company adopted a stock incentive plan.  The exercise price of options granted under the stock 
option plan shall be as determined by the Board of Directors when such options are granted, subject to any 
limitations imposed by any relevant stock exchange or regulatory authority.  
 
At the Company’s annual general meeting held April 30, 2009, shareholders approved a long-term incentive plan 
which provides for the grant of restricted share units, performance share units and deferred share units to key 
employees and directors of the Company.  The aggregate number of shares issuable under the long-term incentive 
plan in respect of awards, together with shares reserved for issuance under all of the Company’s other security-
based compensation arrangements, shall not exceed ten percent of the Company’s issued and outstanding shares. 

 
Stock Options 
 
During the years ended December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, there were no options granted to employees 
of the Company.   

 
Stock option transactions and the number of stock options outstanding are summarized as follows: 
 
 

Number of 
options 

Weighted 
Average 

Exercise Price 
$ 

   
Balance, December 31, 2012 690,725   11.22 
Forfeited (40,000)   15.41 
   
Balance December 31, 2013 650,725 10.96 
Expired (60,000) 15.41 
   
Balance, December 31, 2014 590,725   10.51 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2014, 60,000 vested options expired. 
 
The following table summarizes stock options outstanding as at December 31, 2014: 
 

Exercise Price 
 
 

$ 

Number outstanding 
as at December 31, 

2014 

Weighted average 
remaining life of 

outstanding options 
(years) 

Number exercisable as 
at December 31,    

2014 

Weighted average 
remaining life of 

exercisable options 
(years) 

8.00 390,725 2.64 390,725 2.64 
15.41 200,000 7.66 200,000 7.66 

 590,725 4.34 590,725 4.34 
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The following table summarizes stock options outstanding as at December 31, 2013: 
 

Exercise Price 
 
 

$ 

Number outstanding 
as at December 31, 

2013 

Weighted average 
remaining life of 

outstanding options 
(years) 

Number exercisable as 
at December 31,    

2013 

Weighted average 
remaining life of 

exercisable options 
(years) 

8.00 390,725 3.64 390,725 3.64 
15.41 260,000 8.67 260,000 8.67 

 650,725 5.65 650,725 5.65 
 
 
Deferred Share Unit Awards 
 
A deferred share unit (“DSU”) is a right granted to a non-employee director to receive one common share of the 
Company, from treasury, on a deferred basis.  The value of the DSUs, when redeemed, is equal to the market 
value of the shares on the redemption date, including the value of dividends paid on the Company's common 
shares, if any, as if they had been reinvested in additional DSUs on each payment date.  The DSUs may only be 
redeemed upon a director's retirement from the Company.  The Company recognizes the expense at the time of 
grant.   
 
DSU transactions and the number of DSUs outstanding are summarized as follows: 
 
 

Number of 
DSUs 

Expense 
recognized 

$ 
Balance, December 31, 2012 149,670 5,805 
Granted 34,990 290 
Vested (24,448) − 
   
Balance, December 31, 2013 160,212 6,095 
Granted 60,862 189 
Vested (16,669) − 
   
Balance, December 31, 2014 204,405 6,284 

 
Restricted Share Unit Awards 

 
A restricted share unit (“RSU”) is a right granted to a key employee to receive one common share of the 
Company, from treasury, on a time vested basis.  The fair value of restricted share awards is determined based 
upon the number of shares granted and the quoted price of the Company’s stock on the date of grant.  Restricted 
shares generally vest over three to five years.   
 
RSU transactions and the number of RSUs outstanding are summarized as follows: 
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 Number of 
RSUs 

Balance, December 31, 2012 201,202 
Granted 97,183 
Vested (66,570) 
Forfeited (11,209) 
  
Balance, December 31, 2013 220,606 
Granted 104,640 
Vested  (52,483) 
Cancelled  (15,932) 
  
Balance, December 31, 2014 256,831 
 
 

20. FINANCE INCOME AND EXPENSE FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS 
 

 December 31, 
2014 

$ 

December 31, 
2013 

$ 
   

Interest expense:   
Long-term debt interest 9,651 13,528 
Accretion and other 10,389 6,720 

 20,040 20,248 
Less: amounts capitalized on qualifying assets −  (3,278) 
Total finance expense 20,040 16,970 
Finance income – interest on short-term bank deposits (399)  (298) 

   
Net finance expense 19,641 16,672 

   
 
 
21. EARNINGS PER SHARE FOR CONTINUING OPERATIONS 
 

a) Basic 
 

Basic earnings (loss) per share, is calculated by dividing the income (loss) attributable to equity holders of the 
Company by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the year. 
 

 2014 2013 
   

Loss from continuing operations (62,642) (107,823)   
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding 14,611,713 14,543,597 

 
b)   Diluted 

 
Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of common shares outstanding 
to assume conversion of all dilutive potential common shares. The Company has four categories of dilutive 
potential common shares: convertible debt, stock options, RSUs and DSUs. The convertible debt is assumed to 
have been converted into common shares, and the net income is adjusted to eliminate the interest expense less the 
tax effect. For the stock options, a calculation is done to determine the number of shares that could have been 



FORTRESS PAPER LTD. 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

For the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 
(Canadian dollars, amounts in thousands except share and per share data) 

 
 

33 
 

acquired at fair value (determined as the average annual market share price of the Company’s shares) based on the 
monetary value of the subscription rights attached to outstanding stock options. The number of shares calculated 
reduces the number of shares that would have been issued assuming the exercise of the share options.  RSUs and 
DSUs are assumed to be converted as of the grant date.   
 
Adjustments for the weighted average number of common shares of 4,417,939 (2013: 4,373,422) for convertible 
debt, stock options, warrants, RSUs and DSUs have not been included in the calculation for diluted loss per share 
as they are antidilutive.   
 
The weighted average diluted number of shares is based on continuing operations.   
 

 
22. COMMITMENTS 
 

As at December 31 2014, the Company has committed to purchase $3,774 in property, plant, and equipment.  
 As at December 31 2014, the Company has performance bonds in the amounts of EUR 9,956. 
 

The minimum operating lease commitments for equipment, storage, and offices over the next five years and 
thereafter are as follows: 
 

 
 
23. RELATED PARTIES 
 

The remuneration of directors and other key management personnel was as follows:  
 

  December 31, 
2014 

$ 

December 31, 
2013 

$ 
   

Salaries and other short-term employee benefits 4,232 5,793 
Share-based awards 483 1,425 
   
Total  4,715 7,218 

 
As at December 31, 2014, there was $1,359 in amounts owing to directors and other key management personnel 
included in accounts payable (2013: $993).   

 
 
 
 
 

 $ 
  

2015 1,183 
2016  611 
2017  293 
2018 227 
2019 173 
Thereafter  – 

 2,487 
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24. SEGMENTED INFORMATION 
 

The segmentation of the Company's manufacturing operations is based on a number of factors, including production 
and economic characteristics.  The Landqart mill and Fortress Optical Features up to its sale date of September 16, 
2014, produce security papers and products.  The Dresden mill produced non-woven wallpaper base products up to 
April 30, 2013.  Fortress Specialty Cellulose produces dissolving pulp products.  During the year ended December 
31, 2014, four customers individually accounted for 35%, 16%, 8% and 0% of sales from continuing operations.  
During 2013, the same customers accounted for 33%, 0%, 15% and 17% of sales from continuing operations, 
respectively.        
 

   Year ended December 31, 2014 
   Security 

 
 
$ 

Pulp 
 
 

$ 

Corporate 
 
 
$ 

Fortress 
Paper 

Consolidated 
$ 

       
Sales    138,721 137,220 - 275,941 
Operating (loss)         (2,286) (43,535) (5,462) (51,283) 
Amortization1   (8,833) (19,219) - (28,052) 
Stock-based compensation1   - - (237) (237)  
Capital expenditures    1,827 11,939 - 13,766 
Total assets   133,314 355,651 38,446 527,411 

       
Sales by geographic area      % 
Europe      7.1 
Asia      74.2 
Canada      8.7 
Other      10.0 
Total       100.0 

 1Stock-based compensation and amortization are included in operating (loss). 
 

  Year ended December 31, 2013 
 Security 

 
 

$ 

Pulp 
 
 

$ 

Corporate 
 
 
$ 

Continuing 
Operations 

 
$ 

Discontinued 
Operations 
(Wallpaper) 

$ 

Fortress 
Paper 

Consolidated 
$ 

       
Sales  119,148 88,637 - 207,785 57,730 265,515 
Operating income (loss)  (7,256) (44,177) (10,329) (61,762) 13,211 (48,551) 
Amortization1 (8,041) (11,691) -  (19,732) (745) (20,477) 
Stock-based compensation1 - - (1,905) (1,905) -  (1,905)  
Capital expenditures  1,855 47,063 - 48,918 3,652 52,570 
Total assets 143,153 384,951 53,740 581,844 - 581,844 
       
Sales by geographic area    % % % 
Europe    12.2 96.6 30.6 
Asia    75.5 3.1 59.8 
Canada    1.8 0.0 1.4 
Other    10.5 0.3 8.2 
Total     100.0 100.0 100.0 

 1Stock-based compensation and amortization are included in operating (loss). 
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  December 31, 
2014 

$ 

December 31, 
2013 

$ 
   

Property, plant and equipment by location   
Canada 306,379 318,137 
Switzerland 85,898 94,812 
   
Total  392,277 412,949 

 
 

25. SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION 
 

During the year ended December 31, 2014, the Company issued 1,000,000 warrants to a lender in a non-cash 
financing transaction to renegotiate a credit facility (Note 15(a)). 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2014, the Company received shares and escrowed marketable securities of a 
company as a non-cash investing transaction as partial payment for the sale of FOF (Note 10). 
    

 
26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 

 
a. Financial risk factors 
 
The Company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk. 
 
Credit Risk 
 
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails 
to meet its contractual obligations. Credit risk is managed on a Company basis, except for credit risk relating to 
accounts receivable balances. Each local entity is responsible for managing and analyzing the credit risk for each 
of their new clients before standard payment and delivery terms and conditions are offered. Credit risk arises from 
cash and cash equivalents, and deposits with banks and financial institutions, as well as credit exposures to 
customers. 
 
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on deposit and cash equivalents with an original maturity date of 90 days 
or less. In order to mitigate the risk of financial loss, cash on deposit is held with major Canadian and 
international financial institutions.  The cash and cash equivalents balance at December 31, 2014 was $44.9 
million (2013: $61.9 million).   

 
The Company utilizes credit insurance to manage the risk associated with trade receivables.  Approximately 86% 
of the outstanding trade receivables are covered under credit insurance or backed by letters of credit.  The 
majority of the balance is with large and financially sound customers, including national banks.  The Company 
sells all pulp through a third party agent that takes ownership of the inventory before it is delivered to the final 
customer.  Accounts receivable aged greater than 90 days are $0.5 million of which $0.2 million is provided for as 
potentially impaired.  The remaining amount is considered collectable. The Company’s trade receivable balance at 
December 31, 2014 was $18.4 million (2013: $12.4 million). At December 31, 2014, approximately, 97% of the 
trade accounts receivable balance was within the Company’s established credit terms. 
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Liquidity Risk 
 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will be unable to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.  Cash 
flow forecasting is performed in the operating entities of the Company and aggregated by Company finance. 
Company finance monitors rolling forecasts of the Company’s liquidity requirements to ensure it has sufficient 
cash to meet operational needs while not breaching borrowing limits or covenants.  The Company manages 
liquidity risk through management of its capital structure in conjunction with cash flow forecasting including 
anticipated investing and financing activities.  The Company manages liquidity risk through ongoing review of 
accounts receivable balances and the management of its cash and debt positions.   
 
At December 31, 2014, the Company’s current portion of long term debt, accounts payable and accrued liabilities 
totaled $45.6 million (2013: $48.6 million). 
 
Although there can be no assurances, Fortress believes that current cash, cash generated from operations, and cash 
from the sale of non-core assets, should be sufficient to meet its debt service, capital expenditure and short term 
working capital requirements for the next year.  Fortress' future operating performance and its ability to service its 
debt and pay other indebtedness of Fortress will be subject to future economic conditions and the financial success 
of Fortress' business and other factors, many of which are not within Fortress' control, including changes in market 
prices for its dissolving pulp, security papers and raw material costs. 

 
 Market Risk 
 

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in interest rates and foreign currency. 
 
Currency risk: 
 
The Company is exposed to foreign exchange risk primarily in euros, Swiss francs and United States dollars 
(“USD”). The Company’s products are sold globally with prices denominated primarily in euros, Swiss francs and 
United States dollars.  The majority of the Company’s expenditures are denominated in Canadian dollars, Swiss 
francs and euros. In addition, the Company holds financial assets and liabilities mainly in the local operating 
currencies. 
 
An increase in the value of the Canadian dollar by $0.01 when compared to the USD would result in a pre-tax loss 
of approximately $50 in relation to working capital balances held by Canadian entities denominated in USD at 
December 31, 2014 (including cash, accounts receivable, and accounts payable).   

 
An increase in the value of the Swiss franc by CHF 0.01 when compared to the EUR would result in a pre-tax loss 
of approximately CHF 214 in relation to working capital balances held by Landqart denominated in EUR at 
December 31, 2014 (including cash, accounts receivable, and accounts payable). 

 
For the years ended December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, the Company did not use derivative instruments 
to reduce its exposure to currency risk for sales denominated in a foreign currency.   

 
Sensitivity analysis: 
 
The Company has completed a sensitivity analysis to estimate the impact on operating income for the year that a 
change in foreign exchange rates or interest rates during the year ended December 31, 2014 would have had. 
 
This sensitivity analysis includes the following assumptions: 
 

• Changes in individual foreign exchange rates do not cause foreign exchange in other countries to alter 
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• Changes in market interest rates do not cause a change in foreign exchange rates 
 

The results of the foreign exchange sensitivity analysis on operations can be seen in the following table: 
 

 Impact on 
operating income 

$ 

Change in CHF exchange rates   
Strengthening of 1% compared to EUR foreign exchange rate - 593 
   
Change in Canadian dollar exchange rate   
Strengthening of 1% compared to USD foreign exchange rate - 1,167 

 
The above results arise due to the impact of foreign currency fluctuations on operations for transactions 
denominated in Euros and USD. Fortress will continue to monitor and evaluate the future use of exchange 
contracts to limit exposure to exchange fluctuations. 
 
Changes in market interest rates would have no significant impact on operating income.     

 
Limitations of sensitivity analysis 
 
The financial position of the Company may vary at the time that a change in the factors occurs, causing the impact 
on the Company’s results to differ from that shown above. 

 
b. Capital management 

 
The Company’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard its assets and maintain a globally competitive 
cost structure while looking for growth opportunities to provide returns to its shareholders. In addition, the 
Company works with all relevant stakeholders to ensure the safety of its operations and employees, and remain in 
compliance with all environmental regulations. 

The Company continuously monitors and assesses its financial performance in order to ensure that its net debt 
levels are prudent taking into account the anticipated direction of the business cycle.  The Company continuously 
monitors the public and private debt markets and the public equity markets in order to assure that its capital 
structure is appropriately balanced.  The Company can be materially influenced by changes in the relative value of 
the Canadian dollar, Swiss franc, American dollar, and euro. 

The Company’s capital comprises net debt and shareholders’ equity: 

 
 December 31, 

2014 
$ 

December 31, 
2013 

$ 
   

Cash and cash equivalents 44,917 61,888 
Less total debt 232,347 228,130 
Net (debt) cash  (187,430) (166,242) 
   
Shareholders’ equity 232,914 302,278 
 
The Company has certain financial covenants stipulating maximum long-term debt to adjusted net worth ratios 
and minimum working capital ratios.  Debt obligations are held by various entities within the Company with 
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individual debt agreements specifying the entities within the Company that are to be included in the covenant 
calculations.   
 
The Company’s strategy is to ensure it remains in compliance with all of its existing debt covenants in order to 
ensure continuous access to capital.  Management reviews past results and forecasts to monitor their compliance. 
The Company was in compliance with all externally imposed capital requirements for the years ended December 
31, 2014 and December 31, 2013.   
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